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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

NATHAN JOHNSON,
3052 Averley Road
Ljamsville, MD 21754

RACHEL DeBAUN, Civil Action No. 1:25-CV-02294-JRR
3101 Woodland Lane
Alexandria, VA 22309 JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

NATHAN MOORE,
913 Duke Street
Alexandria, VA 22314

SHAWN DERRICK,
7109 Springbrook Terrace
Spotsylvania, VA 22553

on behalf of themselves as well as a Class of all
similarly situated persons,

Plaintiffs,
V.
LOANDEPOT.COM, LLC,
26642 Towne Center Drive
Foothill Ranch, CA 92610

Defendant.

FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND

This is a class action complaint brought by the Class Representatives listed herein on behalf
of themselves and an entire class of persons similarly situated, by counsel, against Defendant
loanDepot.com, LLC (“loanDepot”) and in support states the following:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

I. This is a class action arising from loanDepot’s deployment of a sophisticated,

company-wide practice of willfully violating the loan officer compensation laws set forth in the
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Truth in Lending Act (“TILA™), 15 U.S.C. § 1601, et seq., for the purpose of obtaining a
competitive advantage over other lenders and maximizing profits at the expense of Plaintiffs and
those similarly situated.

2. As a matter of practice, loanDepot unlawfully steered Plaintiffs, and those similarly
situated, to loans with higher rates and fees—a practice it accomplished by reducing the
commissions paid to loan officers on discounted loans. Defendant also implemented a system to
falsify internal forms and federal disclosures to conceal the fact that it varied loan officer
compensation based on the terms—interest rates and fees—of its mortgage loans. And if its loan
officers did not accede to and participate in falsifying these documents, loanDepot paid no
commission at all, thus strengthening its illegal steering incentives.

3. These actions provided loanDepot an unfair competitive advantage by giving it the
ability to both drive unsuspecting borrowers to loans with the highest rates, while maintaining its
flexibility to lower rates to match competitors, who—in compliance with the applicable laws—
were forced to offer borrowers mortgage loans with rates that more closely approximated the best
terms the lenders could offer. loanDepot’s actions were therefore unfair both to consumers and
competitors alike.

4. In violation of the Dodd—Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act
(“Dodd-Frank™), which amended TILA to prohibit compensation based upon loan terms,
loanDepot reduced the commission paid to loan officers when loan officers were forced to reduce
the rates and fees consumers paid to match competition or otherwise convince a borrower to move
forward on a loan. To conceal this practice, loanDepot created a proxy for loan terms through a
system of sham internal transfers, requiring loan officers who failed to push borrowers into higher

rate loans to transfer (on paper only) the borrower’s loan file to an “Internal Loan Consultant” or
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“ILC.” However, there was no actual transfer of the loans, as the ILC performed no duties on the
loans, whereas the original loan officer remained fully involved and responsible, but was paid a
reduced commission rate. (hereinafter referred to as a “Sham Transfer”). In fact, this Sham
Transfer was simply a proxy for loan terms, designed to conceal the reduction in compensation
from the reduction in the rates and fees consumers paid.

5. To bolster this concealed proxy—i.e. the Sham Transfer—loanDepot created
transfer forms designed to facilitate and encourage the creation of a phony paper trail in an attempt
to legitimize the reasons for the Sham Transfer. These practices were designed to conceal the
reality that the transfer and corresponding loan officer commission reduction were linked to a
reduction in the in the rates or fees provided to customers.

6. Finally, loanDepot attempted to conceal the illegal commission structure and Sham
Transfers by electronically robosigning the ILC’s signature on federally mandated loan disclosure
forms, including Loan Applications and Closing Disclosures. These forms were signed “under
penalty of perjury,” and gave the false appearance that the ILC was actually involved in and
responsible for the loan, when the ILC did not actually assume any duties as a result of the Sham
Transfer.

7. Plaintiffs and Class members were victims of this illegal steering and were charged
higher interest rates and/or fees than were otherwise available through the Defendant. As set forth
herein, each and every borrower of the class is, at a minimum, entitled to the return of all finance
charges, including interest paid on such loans, as well as any fees paid in connection with such
loans, among other relief to which Plaintiffs are entitled by statute, plus attorney’s fees. 15 U.S.C,

§1640.
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THE PARTIES

8. Plaintiff Nathan Johnson is a resident of Ijamsville, Maryland. Plaintiff is a
“consumer” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1602(i), and the loans he obtained were primarily
for personal, family or household purposes.

0. Plaintiff Rachel DeBaun is a resident of Alexandria, Virginia. Plaintiff is a
“consumer” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1602(i), and the loans she obtained were
primarily for personal, family or household purposes.

10. Plaintiff Nathan Moore is a resident of Alexandria, Virginia. Plaintiff is a
“consumer” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1602(i), and the loans he obtained were primarily
for personal, family or household purposes.

11. Plaintiff Shawn Derrick is a resident of Spotsylvania, Virginia. Plaintiff is a
“consumer” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1602(i), and the loans he obtained were primarily
for personal, family or household purposes.

12. loanDepot.com, LLC is a Delaware limited liability company that is a wholly
owned subsidiary of loanDepot, Inc. via its holding company LD Holdings. loanDepot.com LLC’s
principal place of business is located at 26642 Towne Center Drive, Foothill Ranch, Orange
County, California. loanDepot.com, LLC is registered to do business in the State of Maryland,
sells residential mortgage lending products in Maryland and maintains multiple offices throughout
the State of Maryland.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

13. This Court has federal question jurisdiction over this action, pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§ 1331, as it arises under 15 U.S.C. § 1640.
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14. This Court has personal jurisdiction over this action because loanDepot has
sufficient minimum contacts with this District and has purposefully availed itself of the privilege
of doing business in this District, such that it could reasonably foresee litigation being brought in
this District. This Court also has diversity jurisdiction over this action. See 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a).

15. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a) through (d) because one
or more Plaintiffs reside in this district.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

The Loan Officer Compensation Rule (Rate-Based Compensation Ban) (12 C.ER. 1026.36)

16. loanDepot, like all lenders, is subject to Regulation Z (12 C.F.R. Pt. 1026),
including the loan officer compensation rule (12 C.F.R. § 1026.36). The loan officer compensation
rule (i.e. the Rate-Based Compensation Ban) was established as part of Dodd-Frank following the
subprime lending crises and the Great Recession of 2008.

17. Prior to the Rate-Based Compensation Ban, loan officers were lawfully permitted
to receive greater compensation by selling higher interest rate loans or charging more upfront fees
(or both) to customers. “This created a situation in which the loan originator had a financial
incentive to “steer” consumers into the highest interest rate possible or to impose on the consumer
additional upfront charges payable to the creditor.”!

18. Congress and the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”) determined that
such incentives were both improper and dangerous to consumers:

In a perfectly competitive and transparent market, competition
would ensure that this incentive would be countered by the need to
compete with other loan originators to offer attractive loan terms to

consumers. However, the mortgage origination market is neither
always perfectly competitive nor always transparent, and consumers

! Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection, Loan Originator Compensation Requirements Under the Truth in
Lending Act (Regulation Z) Final rules; official interpretations, 78 Fed. Reg. 11286 (Feb. 15, 2013).
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(who take out a mortgage only a few times in their lives) may be
uninformed about how prices work and what terms they can expect.
This compensation structure was problematic...because the loan
originator had an incentive to steer borrowers into less favorable
pricing terms... 2

19.  As recognized by both the CFPB and the Federal Reserve Board, the functional
lack of transparency in shopping for a mortgage limited the viability of a truly competitive market.
Both the CFPB and the Federal Reserve Board noted that due to the complexity of residential
mortgage products and the limitations inherent in shopping for mortgages, consumers had little
choice but to rely on the goodwill of the lender and loan originator to ensure they were getting the
best price available. Yet, as the Federal Reserve Board recognized, the loan originator had an
undisclosed financial incentive adverse to the interest of the borrower. See 78 Fed. Reg. 11300
(Feb. 15, 2013).

20. Regulation Z was designed with the intent to eliminate this adverse undisclosed
incentive and instead align the interest of the borrower and the loan originator, while increasing
the transparency of pricing. To accomplish this, Regulation Z allows loan officers to be paid based
upon the volume of the loans they close, but expressly prohibits payments to loan originators based
on any term of the transaction and/or profitability of the loans (“Rate-Based Compensation Ban™).
See 12 C.F.R. § 1026.36(d)(1)(i):

[[In connection with a consumer credit transaction secured by a dwelling, no loan

originator shall receive and no person shall pay to a loan originator, directly or indirectly,

compensation in an amount that is based on a term of a transaction, the terms of multiple
transactions by an individual loan originator, or the terms of multiple transactions by
multiple individual loan originators.

21.  Further, loan originators are prohibited from directing or steering a consumer into

a loan transaction where the loan originator will receive greater compensation from the lender:

21d.
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In connection with a consumer credit transaction secured by a
dwelling, a loan originator shall not direct or “steer” a consumer to
consummate a transaction based on the fact that the originator will
receive greater compensation from the creditor in that transaction
than in other transactions the originator offered or could have
offered to the consumer, unless the consummated transaction is in
the consumer’s interest.

12 C.F.R. § 1026.36(e)(1).
22.  Regulation Z similarly prohibits lenders from basing compensation on a proxy for
a loan term that achieves the same result:
If a loan originator’s compensation is based in whole or in part on a
factor that is a proxy for a term of a transaction, the loan originator’s
compensation is based on a term of a transaction. A factor that is
not itself a term of a transaction is a proxy for a term of the
transaction if the factor consistently varies with that term over a
significant number of transactions, and the loan originator has the

ability, directly or indirectly, to add, drop, or change the factor in
originating the transaction.

12 C.F.R. § 1026.36(d)(1)(1).

23.  And, Regulation Z prohibits lenders from nearly every type of incentive based upon
the profitability of the loans closed by the loan officer. Thus, just as a lender may not pay more to
generate loans at higher interest rates, a lender may not pay less for generating loans at lower
interest rates. An Official Comment to Regulation Z directly addresses loanDepot’s attempt to
circumvent the rules through a “Front-Load & Discount Strategy”, whereby a lender would
initially start with higher commission tied to inflated rates and then decrease the compensation of
loan originators based on the terms of the loan:

Thus, a creditor and a loan originator may not agree to set the loan originator's
compensation at a certain level and then subsequently lower it in selective cases
(such as where the consumer is able to obtain a lower rate from another creditor).
When the creditor offers to extend credit with specified terms and conditions (such
as the rate and points), the amount of the originator's compensation for that

transaction is not subject to change (increase or decrease) based on whether
different credit terms are negotiated. For example, if the creditor agrees to lower



Case 1:25-cv-02294-JRR  Document 29  Filed 10/03/25 Page 8 of 34

the rate that was initially offered, the new offer may not be accompanied by a
reduction in the loan originator's compensation.

78 Fed. Reg. 11423 (Feb. 15, 2013).

24.

In the 2013 preamble that accompanied the Rate-Based Compensation Ban, the

CFPB made clear that loanDepot’s Front-Load & Discount Strategy—reducing commissions for

loan officers who fail to steer borrowers into higher rate loans—boosts loan prices and, violated

the Ban:

Existing comment 36(d)(1)—5 prevents creditors and loan originators from evading
the prohibition in §1026.36(d)(1) by systematically setting loan originator
compensation at a non-competitive, artificially high baseline and then allowing
discretion to loan originators to lower their compensation (by giving the
concession) in selective cases, either unilaterally or upon request by consumers.
More sophisticated consumers who choose to negotiate the loan originator
compensation may benefit from the ability of loan originators to grant concessions.
On the other hand, if reductions in loan originator compensation to bear the cost of
pricing concessions were allowed under all circumstances, those consumers who
do not shop or who otherwise lack the knowledge or expertise to negotiate
effectively may be vulnerable to creditors or loan originators that consistently
inflate price quotes. Thus, an interpretation of §1026.36(d)(1)(i) to allow
reductions in loan originator compensation to bear the cost of a pricing concession
in a broad set of circumstances could create an opening to upcharge consumers
across the board.

78 Fed. Reg. 11333 (Feb. 15, 2013) (emphasis added).

25.

The Federal Reserve Board implemented an analogous rule prohibiting such

compensation, similarly concluding:

The Board believes that permitting creditors to decrease loan originator
compensation because of a change in terms favorable to the consumer would result
in loopholes and permit evasions of the final rule. For example, a creditor could
agree to set originators’ compensation at a high level generally, and then
subsequently lower the compensation in selective cases based on the actual loan
terms, such as when the consumer obtains another offer with a lower interest rate.

skeksk

This would have the same effect as increasing the originator s compensation for
higher rate loans. As noted above, the Board believes such compensation
practices are harmful and unfair to consumers.
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Federal Reserve System, Truth in Lending: Final rule; official staff commentary, 75 Fed. Reg.
58524 (September 24, 2010) (emphasis added).

26. The Rate-Based Compensation Ban was therefore designed to incentivize loan
officers to offer the lowest rate available at the outset of a relationship with a consumer, including
the Plaintiffs and similarly situated persons. Because the Rate-Based Compensation Ban tied loan
officer pay solely to loan volume—not to pricing or profitability—it would run directly counter to
their financial interests to offer anything other than the most competitive pricing available from
the outset. The faster they convinced a consumer to move forward, the more volume they could
originate. And offering rates higher than what was available from their lender would only open
the door for competition from other lenders. Since there was no benefit to selling at a higher rate
to the loan officer as long as the lender complied with the Rate-Based Compensation Ban, the
incentive to the loan officer would be to offer a lower rate up front, facilitate the transaction
expeditiously, and maximize their loan volume irrespective of the rates they charged. In short, the
Rate-Based Compensation Ban was designed to ensure there would be no incentive whatsoever
for the loan originator to offer the borrower anything other than the lowest rate they had available
form their lender up front.

27. Further, because the compensation to a loan officer was required to be fixed after
Dodd-Frank and the Rate-Based Compensation Ban, a lender could only reduce loan pricing by
reducing its profit margin on the loan—it could no longer reduce the commission payable to the
loan officer. The effect of the Rate-Based Compensation Ban—driving loan officers to initially
offer lower rates—combined with the lenders’ reduced flexibility in offering pricing exceptions®

would lead to lenders having more uniform loan terms for similarly situated borrowers.

3 A “pricing exception” refers to a discount in rates or fees for a borrower.

9



Case 1:25-cv-02294-JRR  Document 29  Filed 10/03/25 Page 10 of 34

Accordingly, law-abiding lenders had to sacrifice profits to reduce loan terms to maximize
volume, or alternatively, accept lower volumes to obtain higher per loan profits.

loanDepot s lllegal Commission Structure Scheme

28. Notwithstanding Regulation Z and its Rate-Based Compensation Ban, loanDepot
designed its compensation plan to incentivize loan officers based upon the profitability and the
terms of the loans they closed. loanDepot devised a plan that instead of paying loan officers more
to raise rates, it baked in the higher compensation and higher loan prices at the outset of the
relationship, thus raising prices on all borrowers. When loan terms needed to be substantively
reduced, loanDepot required the loan to proceed via a “Sham Transfer,” to justify a reduction in
the loan officers’ commission to offset the reduction in the rates/fees offered to the borrower. As
such, loan officers were specifically incented to offer loans at higher rates for which they would
receive their contractually promised compensation. But, if the loan officer could not convince the
borrower to move forward at a higher rate, they were expected to lower the rate and receive a
reduced commission rate for that loan or no commission at all. The Sham Transfer was the vehicle
or “proxy” utilized to facilitate this unlawful compensation scheme. As previously indicated, the
CFPB and the Federal Reserve anticipated this crude attempt to evade the Rate-Based
Compensation Ban and made clear that this Front-Load & Discount Strategy was violative of the
Rate-Based Compensation Ban. See 78 Fed. Reg. 11333 (Feb. 15, 2013); 75 Fed. Reg. 58524
(September 24, 2010).

29. Not only did this retain the unlawful incentive in violation of Regulation Z, but it
also actually exacerbated the harms that the Rate-Based Compensation Ban was intended to cure.
Instead of some customers being subjected to higher rates, all customers would now be forced

toward higher rates unless they were able to convince a loan officer to forego all or part of their

10
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commission to which they were entitled. Moreover, the hidden adverse incentive would remain in
place, further concealed by loan Depot’s illegal practices. And, loanDepot would remain able to
offer borrowers higher rates, while remaining flexible to reduce compensation and terms to match
competitors — a significant advantage over law abiding lenders.

30. Yet, loanDepot could not simply implement an express policy reducing or
eliminating a loan officer’s compensation if it needed to match a competitor’s pricing to close a
loan since that violated the Rate-Based Compensation Ban. Defendant therefore used the Sham
Transfers to ILC’s as a proxy. As set forth herein, there is ample pre-discovery evidence that
loanDepot (i) never actually transferred loans that it labeled transfers; and (ii) utilized Sham
Transfers to reduce compensation to loan officers on loans where pricing exceptions were needed
to match a competitor.

31. An example of an agreement that outlines a loan officer’s compensation plan is the
loanDepot Role Specific Incentive Terms sheet, attached hereto as Exhibit A. According to that
compensation plan, the loan officer was paid a standard 120 basis points to originate a loan. See
Exh. A at 001453-001454. However, if the loan officer originated a loan referred to as a “Permitted
Loan Transfer” the compensation was reduced to 30 basis points. See Exh. A. Id. at 1454.

32. A loan could qualify as a Permitted Loan Transfer if, among other reasons, the loan
officer certified he was away from the office and needed assistance and/or if the consumer
requested in writing to transfer the loan to another loan officer a type of Sham Transfer. See Exh.
A at 1456-1457.

33. While a bona fide loan officer transfer—based on legitimate, documented customer
requests—may not violate the Rate-Based Compensation Ban, loanDepot’s actual practices bore

no resemblance to such lawful conduct. In reality, the so-called “transfers” were nothing more

11
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than a mirage—an internal sleight of hand, akin to a shell game or a rigged game of three-card

monte. These Sham Transfers existed solely on paper, lacked any genuine customer impetus, and

served one purpose: to conceal impermissible reductions in loan officer compensation triggered

by price concessions.

34.

A former loanDepot loan processer testified under oath, subject to cross

examination about the role of the original loan officer and ILC on a loan that was purportedly

“transferred’:

35.

[N]othing changed on the loan. We still worked with the same loan officer and the
same loan officer assistants. It was a name. [—I really don't know if it was a real
person. I think it was — I think it was just—or at the time we all joked about the fact
that it was an alias, you know, like calling somebody, you know, George Washington
or Bill Clinton in the system. It was the same thing. Juanita was just a name that the
loan went to. They could start the loan over and get it closed. We didn't have any
interaction with this person and we didn't have any assistance from this person. If we
had to change something in the loan, if the lock had to be updated, if somebody
had to go talk to the borrower, it was always the original loan officers.*

Indeed, the former loan officer at loanDepot explained these transfers were merely

“smoke and mirrors:”

Q: Okay. Now, when a loan was transferred in name to an ILC, was there an actual
change in who did the work?
A: No.

skkok

Q: Okay. So when there was a transfer for pricing to an ILC, how did that change what
the initial loan officer did on the file?

A: Tt did not change.

Q: How did that change what the LO or processor did on the file?

A: It didn't change. It was the same — same duties as they would do on a loan that was
still in the originator stage.

Q: Well, then how could you really call it a transfer?

A: Because it reduced your compensation.

Q: Yeah, but, [ mean, a transfer suggests there was a change of responsibility, right?

4 Exhibit 10, Day 5 Hearing Transcript Excerpt at 1439:8-1440:10, loanDepot.com, LLC v. Movement Mortg., LLC,
No. 23-0681 (D. Del. May 28, 2024), Doc. 71-9 (attached hereto as Exhibit G).

12
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It was three-card monte. It was literally just smoke in mirrors ... >

Moreover, not only were these transfers “smoke and mirrors,” the reality is they

were specifically “required” to reduce compensation when loanDepot had to match another

lender’s terms:

Loan Officer 1

37.

the company began requiring [loan officers] to refer or transfer certain loans ... to
“Internal Loan Consultants” .... I was only paid 30 bps on these loans, which would
result in my commissions frequently being lower than the 90 basis points to which
I was contractually entitled. I believe at some point I may not have been paid on

these loans at all.
sksksk

[1]f there was a borrower who was aggressively shopping for loans and stated they
would go with another lender, for the sake of the relationship with the referral
partner, you would save the deal by putting the loan in [the ILC’s] name.

kskosk
There was a joke around the company that [my ILC] was not a real person. I never
spoke to her. I don’t know for sure, but I don’t believe she did any work. The
borrowers also didn’t know who she was.
Decl. 9 4-6.°

Yet another former loan officer certified that these Sham Transfers, utilized

specifically to match a competitors pricing, were “directed” by loanDepot managers:

Loan Officer 2

While at loanDepot, there were instances where I was directed to transfer my loan
to an Internal Loan Consultant to close the loan. My understanding was that this
occurred when loanDepot was trying to match a competitor and the loan pricing
was not profitable for the company with my compensation plan. In those instances,
Brian Covey, my Regional Manager, would advise me that if I transferred the loan
to an ILC, I would receive a lower referral commission and the company could
make the deal. . .[M]y team still closed the loans and did the same amount of work
they would have had it been my loan. ... I have never spoken to [the ILC] and
never received a responsive email from her.

Decl. 99 4-9.”

5 Exhibit 10, Day 5 Hearing Transcript Excerpt at 1747:11-22, loanDepot.com, LLC v. Movement Mortg., LLC, No.
23-0681 (D. Del. May 28, 2024), Doc. 71-9 (attached hereto as Exhibit G).

¢ A full copy of this declaration will be provided to opposing counsel upon filing the Amended Complaint.

" A full copy of this declaration will be provided to opposing counsel upon filing the Amended Complaint.

13
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38. Another former loan officer confirmed that their manager instructed loan officers
to execute Sham Transfers by having them put loans in an ILC’s name to reduce the interest rate
being offered to the borrower, but that the loan officer remained fully responsible for the loan and
the corresponding compensation was reduced or eliminated:

Within weeks of joining loanDepot, Brian Covey presented an option to me where
loan officers would put certain loans in [an ILC’s] name — typically, this was the
case for loans where a borrower would say that we needed to match or beat another
offer. ... We would make [the ILC] the loan officer of record, but the original loan
officer would still handle the loan and do all the work, including handling the
communications, document collection and all the other duties. They just wouldn’t
get paid on it ... I would be willing to bet that the borrower didn’t even know who
the ILC was . . .
Loan Officer 3 Decl. 9 4-6.8

39. In reality, Permitted Loan Transfers were not legitimate. As set forth above,
multiple loanDepot loan officers confirmed that there was “no change” in duties when a loan was
transferred to an ILC. The ILC’s did nothing on the file, to the point that multiple loan officers
doubted if the ILC was even a “real person.”

40. The Sham Transfers were not actually for the reasons enumerated in the Permitted
Loan Transfer forms. Rather, multiple loan officers confirmed that the transfers were really
associated with reducing compensation on loans where loanDepot had to reduce the rates to match
competition from other lenders. And the testimony of these employees is confirmed by high level
executives such as John Bianchi loanDepot’s EVP National Production Manager Distributed

Retail, who in the ordinary course of business instructed:

can we please transfer the loans to the ILC prior to doing the [pricing exception] request.
It becomes problematic for us to lock and transfer after the fact.’

8 A full copy of this declaration will be provided to opposing counsel upon filing the Amended Complaint.
° Exhibit 9, March 11, 2020 Email from J. Bianchi, loanDepot.com, LLC v. Movement Mortg., LLC, No. 23-0681 (D.
Del. May 28, 2024), Doc. 71-8 (attached hereto as Exhibit H).

14
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41. The reason it was “problematic’ to request a pricing exception before “transferring”
the loan to an ILC is obvious: Defendant wanted to know that a loan was transferred and therefore
compensation reduced (or eliminated) before agreeing to a pricing exception, because the real
reason for the transfer was to eliminate or reduce compensation to the loan officer when pricing
exceptions were needed. loanDepot’s Corporate Designee confirmed this, by explaining how Mr.
Bianchi and another executive, Mr. Paul Ramos, wanted to know about the ILC transfer before
approving pricing exception requests:

Q: And when you’re saying “send on,” you're talking about sending on to Mr. Ramos
and/or Mr. Bianchi for approval, right?

A: Correct.

Q: Okay. So it’s important for them to see that it had been put in an ILC name before
you sent it on [for a pricing exception], right?

A: Correct.

Q: Because that would tell them that the hundred basis points you otherwise were
paying the loan officer isn’t in there anymore, right?

A: Correct.'”

42.  Loan officers understood and followed these instructions for a Sham Transfer
before requesting pricing exceptions. As set forth in the examples of screenshots from loanDepot’s
Mello!! loan origination system, loan officers would need to specifically highlight the transfer of
a loan to an ILC when requesting a pricing exception for customers to match the lower rates that
competitors offered. See Exhibit 6, Nov. 12, 2021 pricing exception approval, loanDepot.com,
LLC v. Movement Mortg., LLC, No. 23-0681 (D. Del. May 28, 2024), Doc. 71-5 (loan is in the
ILC, salvaging it. Won’t stick with us unless matching broker at 2.875%) (attached hereto as

Exhibit C); Exhibit 7, Oct. 13, 2021 pricing exception approval, loanDepot.com, LLC v. Movement

Mortg., LLC, No. 23-0681 (D. Del. May 28, 2024), Doc. 71-6 (“ILC deal competing against

10 Exhibit 11, loanDepot.com, LLC v. Movement Mortg., LLC, No. 23-0681 (D. Del. May 28, 2024), Doc. 71-10
(attached hereto as Exhibit B).
' Mello is loanDepot’s proprietary digital internal loan origination lending platform and software application.

15
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BOA™) (attached hereto as Exhibit D); Exhibit 8, June 14, 2021 pricing exception approval,
loanDepot.com, LLC v. Movement Mortg., LLC, No. 23-0681 (D. Del. May 28, 2024), Doc. 71-7
(“Large Financial Advisor, first deal giving me and his own. Shopped us with prior company, was
able to secure with this rate. Is an ILC deal”) (attached hereto as Exhibit E).

43. The correlation between pricing and Sham Transfers is apparent from a April 27,
2021 email thread between manager Brian Covey and loanDepot’s Director of Human Resources,
discussing the compensation payable to a loan officer who needed a pricing exception due to an
expired rate lock.'> While explaining that a Permitted Loan Transfer (including one for a written
customer request) would qualify for commission, the instant scenario did not qualify for as it did
not fall into the Permitted Loan Transfer category. Nonetheless the loan officer is still instructed
by his manager to transfer the loan to the ILC and then submit a PE (pricing exception) for a
reduced rate. This reflects the correlation between the pricing, the Sham Transfer to the ILC, and
the reduction in the loan officer’s commission. Here, to obtain the pricing concession, the loan
officer was specifically told to submit a transfer and that he would not receive compensation. '

44. The testimony of multiple loan officers, loanDepot’s own corporate designee,
emails from top executives, and publicly available screen shots from its loan origination system,
demonstrate that not only were the transfers to ILCs a Sham Transfer, but they were also instituted
in order to justify lower compensation when loanDepot need to reduce the rates and/or fees on a

loan to match a competitor.

12 When a rate lock expires, it causes the borrower to need to pay to extend the rate or risk the interest rate of their
loan increasing if current interest rate conditions have worsened. This extension request therefore costs the borrower
additional upfront fees. In the case of this email thread, the loan officer was requesting an exception so that the
borrower’s overall cost of the loan would not increase.

13 As set forth below, the only difference between loans with no compensation and those with the reduced
compensation is related to whether the loan officer certified the loan as a Permitted Loan Transfer. If the loan officer
did not provide the certification, they received no compensation, but if they provided the certification with one of the
enumerated reasons, they received the reduced compensation.

16



Case 1:25-cv-02294-JRR  Document 29  Filed 10/03/25 Page 17 of 34

45. Of course, loanDepot continued to incentivize loan officers to produce volume
through bonuses and other rewards that promoted high volume loan officers and penalized lower
volume loan officers through demotion, reduced perks, and termination of loan officers whose
volume substantially diminished. Thus, even without the commission on a particular loan file,
there remained some incentives to originate even discounted loans. Indeed, mid-level managers
were evaluated based upon both volume and profitability in their region. Accordingly, mid-level
managers and loan officers alike were required to drive both profitability and volume, meaning
that loan officers were effectively required by policies, practices and by supervisors to sell loans
at higher rates, but also accept reduced commission on a loan if a substantive pricing exception
was necessary.

46. loanDepot’s illegal commission structure scheme affected all of its loans. Higher
priced loans carried higher commissions and unless a customer were able to convince a loan officer
to forego commission on a loan, the borrower would receive the higher rates and fees violating the
principal purposes of the Rate-Based Compensation Ban: to eliminate hidden incentives and incent
loan officers to initially offer the lowest prices available from the lender.

loanDepot'’s Fraudulent Concealment of its Proxy

47. As detailed above, the regulatory definition of a proxy requires two elements: (i) a
consistent correlation between the loan terms offered to borrowers and the compensation paid to
loan originators; and (ii) that the correlation is driven by a factor within the originator’s direct or
indirect control. As set forth above, testimony from both loan officers and loanDepot executives
confirms that such a correlation existed—specifically between pricing exceptions and Sham

Transfers.
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48. In an attempt to obscure the fact that these Sham Transfers functioned as unlawful
proxies for loan terms, loanDepot created the so-called “Permitted Loan Transfer” forms. These
forms were structured to artificially supply reasons for the transfer that appeared to be outside the
loan officer’s control, thereby attempting to negate a regulatory finding that the transfers were a
proxy. However, there is substantial pre-discovery evidence that loanDepot knowingly
encouraged, facilitated, and accepted the falsification of these forms. Rather than documenting
legitimate, borrower-initiated requests, the forms were routinely used to paper the file with
fabricated justifications to conceal the fact that the Sham Transfers were a proxy, enabling
loanDepot to implement a compensation scheme that blatantly violated the Rate-Based
Compensation Ban.

49. Although loanDepot’s “Permitted Loan Transfer” policy purported to limit transfers
to certain enumerated justifications, in practice, loanDepot routinely allowed transfers that did not
meet the policy’s own definition of a “Permitted Transfer.” See Exhibit 2, April 27, 2021, Email
from M. Alexander to B. Covey, loanDepot.com, LLC v. Movement Mortg., LLC, No. 23-0681 (D.
Del. May 28, 2024), Doc. 71-1 (attached hereto as Exhibit F) (demonstrating that a loan that was
not a Permitted Loan transfer would nonetheless be transferred to obtain a pricing exception, but
the loan officer would receive no commission). The difference between a “Permitted Transfer” of
a loan and a loan that did not meet the definition, was simply compensation. If the loan did not
meet the definition of a “Permitted Transfer” then the transfer was still allowed, but the loan officer
suffered an even more extreme form of compensation reduction — they were simply not paid any
commission on the loan. loanDepot’s choice to use this framework created a powerful financial
coercion mechanism: loan officers were effectively forced to certify one of the approved

“Permitted Transfer” reasons, even if untrue, in order to avoid complete forfeiture of commission
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on the loan. In this way, the policy incentivized the fabrication of justification language to mask
what were, in substance, prohibited pricing-based compensation adjustments.

50. In addition to financially incentivizing the certification of false transfer forms,
Defendant knowingly encouraged it through unwritten policies and practices that gave a wink-
and-a-nod to the practices. From its inception the Permitted Loan Transfer policy allowed for
loans transferred for a loan officer’s extended absence and a customer’s written request. However,
rather than simply utilizing a vacation schedule or the customer’s actual request to substantiation
the transfer request, loanDepot instead allowed the loan officer to certify these conditions. No
back-up documentation was required to be submitted. So rather than rely upon documentation—
even when its existence was by definition a necessary condition precedent—IloanDepot literally
ignored that information and instead accepted a loan officer’s say so. Accordingly, loanDepot all
but invited the falsification of Permitted Loan Transfers considering that the submission of these
forms was necessary to receive compensation.

51. If that were not enough, loanDepot managers actively encouraged and instructed
loan officers to falsify the Permitted Loan Transfer Forms. A former loanDepot loan officer who
worked in a region under the direction of Jeremy Boerdner, Vice President for Regional
Production, informed counsel that Mr. Boerdner would routinely instruct loan officers in his region
to transfer loans to ILCs if they needed to be competitive and to fill out forms indicating the
“transfer” was based upon a customer request “if they wanted to get paid.” These instructions and
directives were routinely and repeatedly announced at meetings. This former loan officer also
confirmed that transfers to an ILC were not legitimate, as the ILC never actually worked on the

loan.
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52. Similarly, loan officers who worked under Chris Holloway, a different Regional
Manager, were specifically directed to utilize Sham Transfers to circumvent the Rate-Based
Compensation Ban. They were also instructed to fill out Permitted Loan Transfer forms selecting
“customer requested transfer” if the loan officers wanted to receive any compensation on the loans.
On both occasions, the managers’ instructions were made generally and unrelated to any pending
transfer or request, meaning they were indifferent to whether the reason for the transfer request
was accurate.

53. Further, loanDepot chose not to audit the requests for transfer, never required
borrower confirmation, never investigated why customers would be requesting a transfer away
from their original loan officer, and never disciplined loan officers with high rates of customer
requested transfers. loanDepot chose not to take any of these actions because it knew the forms
were inaccurate because its managers plainly told loan officers to falsify the forms in an effort to
conceal the fact that the Sham Transfers were a proxy for loan terms.

54. It also explains why loanDepot chose to never inquire why loan officers would
have a multitude of customer transfer requests, even though under any legitimate circumstances
such volume of transfers would suggest a serious job performance deficiency. In fact, rather than
treat a high volume of supposed customer transfer requests as a red flag indicating possible
misconduct or performance deficiencies, loanDepot awarded some of these same loan officers
with Chairman’s Club honors—despite the existence of numerous alleged borrower-initiated
transfers. Under any legitimate compliance framework, such numerous alleged borrower-
initiated transfers would have warranted investigation, retraining, or discipline.

55. loanDepot made the internal falsification of the forms simple and without risk.

Managers openly instructed and encouraged loan officers to falsify the reason for the transfer “if
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they wanted to get paid.” Thus the Permitted Loan Transfer forms were another layer of
concealment, in effect a redundancy so that even if the first prong of the proxy definition were
discovered—the correlation between Sham Transfers and pricing exceptions—IloanDepot had a
paper trail to create the illusion that these Sham Transfers did not meet the second prong of the
definition because they were outside the loan officers’ control.!* So, the fabrication of reasons for
Sham Transfers, was another layer of concealment to attempt to hide loanDepot’s illegal
commission scheme.

56. loanDepot’s efforts to conceal its illegal commission scheme did not stop here.
loanDepot also utilized an automated electronic system where an ILC’s signature was placed on
loan disclosures and closing documents that were provided to borrowers under penalty of perjury.
Despite knowing that the original loan officer remained responsible for the loan, loanDepot created
a method of falsely affixing an ILC’s signature on closing disclosures, loan applications, and other
federally required loan disclosure forms that would falsely reflect that the ILC was the responsible
loan officer, even though the borrower did not know the ILC, did not work with the ILC, and the
ILC was not performing any additional services on the loan. As such, loanDepot caused the
systemic falsification of federal lending forms on loans purportedly “transferred” to ILCs to bear
the signature of the ILC rather than the original/actual loan officer, to facilitate the concealment of
its unlawful compensation practices.

57. A loanDepot loan officer confirmed this practice under oath:

The only way a borrower would know who she was is from the closing documents they

would sign, where [the ILC] was listed as the loan officer. In fact, I don’t know if [the ILC]

was a real person. I never got an email from her and never spoke to her.

Loan Officer 3 Decl. § 6.

14 See 12 C.F.R. 1026.36(d)(1)(i). (“A factor that is not itself a term of a transaction is a proxy for a term of the
transaction if the factor consistently varies with that term over a significant number of transactions, and the loan
originator has the ability, directly or indirectly, to add, drop, or change the factor in originating the transaction.”).
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58. Additionally, loanDepot made material misrepresentations and intentionally
omitted material facts from its SEC filings. For example, in its S-1 filing with the SEC leading up
to its initial public offering in 2021, loanDepot failed to disclose its loan officer compensation
scheme despite touting its “transparency” with consumers and claiming that its “company culture
is built around the tenets of responsibility and accountability.” loanDepot, Inc. Registration
Statement (Form S-1) (SEC filed Jan. 11, 2021). Indeed, loanDepot “believe[d] that the principal
factors that generally determine competitive advantage within our market include [among other
things]. . . overall customer experience, including transparency throughout each step of the
transaction . . . and trust . . . .” Id.

59. Tellingly, as part of its S-1 disclosures, loanDepot affirmatively stated that it had to
comply with “certain practices related to loan officer compensation.” Id. In particular, loanDepot
affirmatively stated that TILA and Regulation Z include “the rules on loan officer compensation.”
Id. Having affirmatively made these points, loanDepot was under a legal duty to tell the whole
truth, which necessarily included the fact that it was intentionally engaged in a years’ long practice
of widespread TILA violations. loanDepot advanced similar misleading half-truths in its
subsequent SEC filings. See loanDepot, Inc., Annual Reports (Form 10-K) (SEC filed Mar. 16,
2021; Mar. 18, 2022; Mar. 16, 2023; Mar. 15, 2024; Mar. 13, 2025).

60. Not only did loanDepot intentionally conceal its illegal conduct, it affirmatively
recognized that its failure to comply with federal law could “materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.” loanDepot, S-1 (SEC filed Jan. 11, 2021).
loanDepot described its legal compliance framework as follows:

We are required to comply with a wide array of federal, state and
local laws and regulations that regulate, among other things, the

manner in which we conduct our loan origination and servicing
activities, the terms of our loans and the fees that we may charge,
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and the collection, use, retention, protection, disclosure, transfer and
other processing of personal information. See “Business—
Supervision and regulation.” A material or continued failure to
comply with any of these laws or regulations could subject us to
lawsuits or governmental actions and/or damage our reputation,
which could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Id. loanDepot made similar statements in its subsequent SEC filings. See loanDepot, Annual
Reports (Form 10-K) (SEC filed Mar. 16, 2021; Mar. 18, 2022; Mar. 16, 2023; Mar. 15, 2024; Mar.
13, 2025).

61. In assessing its risks of non-compliance, loanDepot provided a laundry list of
adverse actions for violations of law:

[O]ur failure to comply . . . with these laws or regulations may result
in costly litigation or enforcement actions, the penalties for which
could include but are not limited to: revocation of required licenses;
fines and other monetary penalties; civil and criminal liability;
substantially reduced payments by borrowers; modification of the
original terms of loans, permanent forgiveness of debt, or inability
to directly or indirectly collect all or a part of the principal of or
interest on loans; delays in the foreclosure process and increased
servicing advances; and increased repurchase and indemnification
claims.

loanDepot S-1 (SEC filed Jan. 11, 2021). loanDepot similarly recognized the materiality of such
illegal conduct in its subsequent SEC filings. See loanDepot, Annual Reports (Form 10-K) (SEC
filed Mar. 16, 2021; Mar. 18, 2022; Mar. 16, 2023; Mar. 15, 2024; Mar. 13, 2025).

62. loanDepot made additional misrepresentations in its SEC filings. For example, in
describing its profitability centers, loanDepot omitted the increased profitability it experienced as
a result of its illegal steering scheme. See loanDepot S-1 (SEC filed Jan. 11, 2021).

63.  Moreover, on every loan sold on the secondary market, loanDepot affirmatively

(and falsely) represented that each loan was originated in accordance with all federal lending laws.
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Each secondary market investor required loanDepot to represent and warrant such legal
compliance as part of the investor’s Secondary Market/Loan Purchase Agreement and/or Seller
Guide. By representing and warrantying that its loans did not violate the Rate-Based Compensation
Ban, loanDepot knowingly concealed its illegal compensation practices.

64. In fact, while loanDepot was engaged in these practices, its SVP of Retail Business
Development posted a Linkedin video stating “you have some organizations sliding into their
contracts that if you take too big a PE [pricing exception] they just don’t pay you, which I didn’t
know that you could pay differently based on pricing.”!> The loanDepot SVP of Retail Business
Development was correct. Such a practice violates the Rate-Based Compensation Ban. Yet it is
exactly what was part of loanDepot’s illegal commission structure scheme and was something
loanDepot was internally telling its loan officers that the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau
had approved.

65. loanDepot managers and executives repeatedly infused confidence in the
compliance of its practices internally by telling loan officers that the CFPB had approved
loanDepot’s compensation practices. High level executives, including but not limited to Michelle
Alexander, loanDepot’s director of Human Resources, and John Bianchi, told loan officers that it
was lawful to eliminate compensation on loans that were “transferred” based upon pricing, and
that the practice had been approved by the CFPB. And to the extent there were unwritten practices
that expanded these actions in a manner that was not directly inconsistent from loanDepot’s
carefully worded policies, this furthered the confidence and reliance by loan officers that

loanDepot’s practices were lawful. Thus, loanDepot concealed the illegality to its loan officers,

15 Shane Stanton, LinkedIn (2024), https://www.linkedin.com/feed/update/urn:li:activity:7130592820079288320/
(last visited Oct. 3, 2025).
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and encouraged them to engage in behaviors that benefitted the company financially by giving it
an advantage over competitors.

loanDepot s Actions Harmed Plaintiffs and the Class

66. Plaintiffs and each and every member of the Class were steered towards loans with
higher prices by loan officers who were required to offer those higher prices under threat that if
they did not sell the loan at or near those prices, they would receive either reduced compensation
or would receive no compensation whatsoever.

67. loanDepot’s circumvention of Rate-Based Compensation Ban provided it with
more flexible and broader ranges of pricing than other lenders could offer. Instead of having to
narrow pricing bands to remain both competitive and compliant in an environment where
compensation could not be lowered to maintain profitability, loanDepot was able to first offer
borrowers loans that were highly inflated in terms of cost, and then retreat into more competitively
priced loans by lowering or in some cases eliminating direct compensation to its loan officers.

68. As a result of loanDepot’s illegal commission structure scheme, Plaintiffs were
harmed and injured in the following manner:

a. Plaintiffs were steered toward loans with higher rates and/or fees than were
otherwise available with loanDepot as a result of policies that reduced direct
compensation to loan officers for offering pricing exceptions, and this scheme
adversely affected the cost on the Plaintiffs’ loans and every loan in the proposed
class;

b. Plaintiffs, and all members of the proposed class who they seek to represent, were

steered towards loans with higher interest rates and upfront fees and not informed
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or advised of identical loan products with lower rates and fees that were available
from loanDepot at the relevant time in violation of 15 USC §1639b(c)(1);

c. Plaintiffs, and all members of the proposed class who they seek to represent, were
not advised that loan officers—who were not supposed to be incentivized to
convince borrowers to agree to loans with higher rates and fees—were actually
incentivized to do so, and therefore those loan officers had an undisclosed financial
interest adverse to the Plaintiffs’ interests and in violation of federal lending laws
including the Rate-Based Compensation Ban;

d. The loans Plaintiffs, and all members of the proposed class who they seek to
represent, received from loanDepot carried higher interest rates or upfront fees than
were otherwise available from Defendant as a result of its use of an unlawful Proxy
as described herein;

e. The loans Plaintiffs received from loanDepot were the direct product of prohibited
steering and material omissions in violation of 15 USC §1639b(c)(1); and

f. Plaintiffs received more expensive loans than were otherwise available from
loanDepot, meaning that Plaintiffs paid higher upfront costs and fees, and over the
life of the loan paid (and will continue to pay) a higher interest rate than was
otherwise available from loanDepot but for the unlawful steering to which Plaintiffs
were subjected.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS RELATED TO
THE INDIVIDUAL CLASS REPRESENTATIVES

69.  Plaintiff Nathan Johnson obtained a loan from loanDepot on the property located

at 3052 Averley Road, [jamsville, MD 21754 on or about September 12, 2019.
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70. Plaintiff Rachel DeBaun obtained a loan from loanDepot on the property located at
3101 Woodland Lane, Alexandria, VA 22309 on or about June 16, 2021.

71. Plaintiff Nathan Moore obtained a loan from loanDepot on the property located at
913 Duke Street, Alexandria, VA 22314 on or about July 17, 2020.

72. Plaintiff Shawn Derrick obtained a loan from loanDepot on the property located at
7109 Springbrook Terrace, Spotsylvania, VA 22553 on or about July 2, 2020.

73. Plaintiffs loan documents were signed by the loan officer who they personally
worked with, indicating that their loans were not transferred to an ILC. Therefore, each of these
borrowers paid a higher interest rate and/or higher fees than were otherwise available from
loanDepot—and to which each was entitled—and each of the borrowers was subjected to
loanDepot’s unlawful steering towards loans with higher rates and fees than were otherwise
available at the company.

74. At no time were Plaintiffs Johnson, Derrick, Moore, or DeBaun aware or otherwise
on notice of loanDepot’s illegal steering practice before, at the time of, or after their respective
loans settled. Each of these Plaintiffs acted diligently in connection with their loanDepot
transaction, and none of their closing documents or other materials reviewed in connection with
their mortgage loan identified or suggested that loanDepot compensated its loan officers differently
based on the interest rates and fees charged on residential mortgage loans. It was not until Plaintiffs
communicated with counsel, or were informed by one another, that they first became aware of
even the possibility of loanDepot’s conduct and/or that they were injured because of it. All such
communications occurred in or after December 2024. Plaintiffs were not aware if they had been

affected by these practices until their closing documents were reviewed by counsel sometime in
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the spring or summer of 2025. Plaintiffs filed the present action on July 15, 2025, which is within

three years of Plaintiffs first becoming aware of their respective cause of action.

75.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and all other similarly situated

individuals pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23, and the alleged class is defined as follows:

76.

All individuals in the United States who, between January 1, 2019,
to the present, obtained a residential mortgage loan (as defined in 15
USC § 1602(dd)(5) of TILA) from loanDepot through its retail
division, excluding from the class those persons whose loans were
transferred to Internal Loan Consultants (the “Class). Exempted
from this class is any person who, during the period of January 1,
2019, to the present, was an employee, officer, member and/or agent
of loanDepot, and any judicial officer who handles this case, and the
immediate family members of such judicial officer(s).

There are questions of law and fact common to the claims of each and all members

of the Class. These common questions include, but are not limited to:

a.

b.

Whether loanDepot and/or its employees and/or agents violated TILA;

Whether Plaintiffs and Class members were steered towards mortgage loans that
contained higher rates and less favorable terms by loanDepot loan officers;
Whether loanDepot actively concealed the true purpose of ILC transfers and
steering schemes to avoid detection by Plaintiffs and Class members;

Whether loanDepot maximized its profits at the expense of Plaintiffs and the Class
members who accepted the inflated rates initially offered by loanDepot;

Whether Plaintiffs and the Class members are entitled to statutory damages under
TILA;

Whether Plaintiffs and the Class members are entitled to attorneys’ fees and costs

under TILA; and
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g. Whether, despite exercising reasonable due diligence, Plaintiffs and the Class
members did not and could not have reasonably learned of the illegal ILC transfer
and steering practices employed by loanDepot;

77. These common issues of law and fact, and the common statutory measure of
damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1640, predominate over any question affecting only individual Class
members.

78. Due to loanDepot’s efforts to conceal the ILC transfer and steering schemes from
Plaintiffs, Class members, and regulators, Plaintiffs did not, and could not, have discovered the
schemes before, at the time of, or after the settlement of their residential mortgage loans despite
acting reasonably and diligently, including reviewing the loan documents related to the closing of
their loans.

79. Plaintiffs’ transactions and the course of events carried out by loanDepot exemplify
and are typical of the unlawful compensation systems and concealment thereof designed to
maximize loanDepot’s profits at the expense of Plaintiffs and those similarly situated.

80. The Class is ascertainable because loanDepot maintained a proprietary internal loan
origination software application (Mello) through and within which loanDepot recorded all
instances in which a loan was transferred to an ILC. Identifying Class members and their
associated loans can be accomplished through the straightforward exercise of running a search for
all loans originated during the Class Period and then excluding from the results those loans for
which Mello identifies an ILC transfer.

81. Plaintiffs” damages for the TILA violations are subject to a statutory measure of

damages equal to actual damages and the sum of all finance charges and fees paid by the Plaintiffs,
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as set forth in 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(1) and (4). This statutory measure of damages is common to
all Class members.

82. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class. The interests
of the named Plaintiffs and all other members of the Class are identical.

83. Plaintiffs’ counsel has substantial experience in complex litigation and class action
proceedings, and will adequately represent the Class’s interests.

84. The Class consists, upon information and belief, of thousands of borrowers, and
thus is so numerous that joinder of all individual members is impracticable.

85. Separate actions by individual members of the Class would create a risk of
inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to individual members of the Class that would
establish incompatible standards of conduct for loanDepot.

86. This action entails questions of law and fact common to Class members that
predominate over any question affecting only individual Plaintiffs and therefore a class action is

superior to other available methods of fair and efficient adjudication of this litigation.

87. Most Class members are unaware of their rights to prosecute a claim against
loanDepot.
88. No member of the Class has a substantial interest in individually controlling the

prosecution of a separate action, but if he or she does, he or she may exclude himself or herself

from the class upon the receipt of notice under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(c).
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COUNT I

Violation of the Truth in Lending Act
15 USC § 1639b(c)

89.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege the foregoing allegations as though
fully set forth herein.

90.  Atall relevant times, loanDepot was a “person” as defined in 15 USC § 1602(e) of
TILA.

91. At all relevant times, loanDepot’s loan officers were “loan originators” as defined
in 15 U.S.C. 1602(dd)(2) of TILA in that they are persons, who, for compensation or gain, or in
expectation of compensation or gain, took residential mortgage loan applications, assisted
consumers in obtaining or applying to obtain residential mortgage loans, or offered or negotiated
terms of residential loans to borrowers, including Plaintiffs and the Class members.

92. The mortgage loans originated by loanDepot’s loan officers on behalf of Plaintiffs
and the Class members were “residential mortgage loans” as defined in 15 USC § 1602(dd)(5) of
TILA, in that they were consumer credit transactions secured by a mortgage, deed of trust, or other
equivalent consensual security interest on a dwelling or on residential real property.

93. loanDepot paid, and loanDepot loan officers received, commissions based on the
terms (or a proxy for loan terms) of the Class members’ mortgage loans in violation of TILA, 15
USC § 1639b(c).

94.  Asadirect result of this activity, loanDepot reaped millions of dollars of unlawfully
obtained revenues at the expense of Plaintiffs and the Class members.

95.  Asadirect result of this activity, Plaintiffs and the Class members were injured and

damaged by loanDepot’s unlawful steering scheme.
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96. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a) of TILA, Plaintiffs and the Class members are
entitled to actual and statutory damages, including:

a. Actual damages sustained by the Class members pursuant to 15 U.S.C.
§ 1640(a)(1);

b. A class award of damages in such amount as may be deemed by the Court pursuant
to 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(2); and

c. The sum of all finance charges and fees paid by the Class members pursuant to 15
U.S.C. § 1640(a)(4).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs Johnson, DeBaun, Moore, and Derrick, individually and on
behalf of all Class members, request the following relief against Defendant loanDepot:
1. An Order certifying the proposed Class under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure and appointing the Plaintiffs and their counsel to represent the Class;
2. Demand judgment for Plaintiffs and Class members against loanDepot and award
Plaintiffs and Class members an amount equal to:
a. Actual damages sustained by Plaintiffs and the Class members pursuant to 15
U.S.C. § 1640(a)(1);
b. A Class award as may be determined by the Court pursuant to 15 U.S.C.
§ 1640(a)(2);
c. The sum of all finance charges and fees paid by Plaintiffs and the Class
members pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(4);
d. Anaward of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of court pursuant to 15 U.S.C.

§ 1640(a)(3); and

32



Case 1:25-cv-02294-JRR  Document 29  Filed 10/03/25 Page 33 of 34

3. Such equitable, injunctive, and other relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiffs respectfully request and demand a jury trial on all issues so triable.
Dated: October 3, 2025
Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Ari Karen

Ari Karen, Esq. (Fed. Bar No. 13848)

Seth Waxman, Esq. (admitted Pro Hac Vice)
Mitchell Sandler PLLC

2020 K Street, NW, Suite 760

Washington, DC 20006

202.886.5267

akaren@mitchellsandler.com
swaxman(@mitchellsandler.com

/s/
Michael Paul Smith, Esq. #23685
Eric R. Harlan, Esq. #23492
Smith, Gildea & Schmidt, LLC
600 Washington Avenue, Suite 200
Towson, MD 21204
(410) 821-0070 / (410) 821-0071 (fax)
Email: mpsmith@sgs-law.com
Email: eharlan@sgs-law.com
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on October 3, 2025, the foregoing First Amended Class Action
Complaint and Jury Demand was filed with the Clerk of the Court for the United States District
Court for the District of Maryland using the CM/ECF system. Participants in the case who are
registered CM/ECF users will be served by the CM/ECF system.

/s/ Ari Karen
Ari Karen, Esq.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT ~{ style Definition: Footnote Text
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

NATHAN JOHNSON,
3052 Averley Road
Ijamsville, MD 21754

RACHEL DeBAUN,
3101 Woodland Lane
Alexandria, VA 22309

NATHAN MOORE,
913 Duke Street
Alexandria, VA 22314

SHAWN DERRICK,
7109 Springbrook Terrace
Spotsylvania, VA 22553

on behalf of themselves as well as a Class of all
similarly situated persons,

Plaintiffs,
v.
LOANDEPOT.COM, LLC,
26642 Towne Center Drive
Foothill Ranch, CA 92610

Defendant.

Civil Action No. 1:25-CV-02294-JRR

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND

This is a class action complaint brought by the Class Representatives listed herein on behalf

of themselves and an entire class of persons similarly situated, by counsel, against

DefendantsDefendant loanDepot.com, LLC (“loanDepot”) and in support states the following:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This is a class action arising from loanDepot’s deployment of a sophisticated, years-

company-wide
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practice of willfully violating the loan officer compensation laws set forth in the Truth in Lending

Act (“TILA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1601, et seq-.. for the purpose of obtaining a competitive advantage

over other lenders and maximizing profits at the expense of Plaintiffs and those similarly situated;

<« 99

2. As a matter of practice, loanDepot unlawfully steered Plaintiffs, and those similarly

situated, to loans with higher rates and fees—andfurtherereated—a—system—for—a practice it

accomplished by reducing the falsification—of—internal-commissions paid to loan officers on

discounted loans. Defendant also implemented a system to falsify internal forms and federal

disclosures to conceal these—iHegal aetivities— Tean—officers—were—punished—with—redueced

commissionthe fact that it varied loan officer compensation based on the terms—interest rates and

fees—of its mortgage loans. And if they—were-unable-to-sel-loans—with-higher rates—and-forther

punished—withits loan officers did not accede to and participate in falsifying these documents,

loanDepot paid no commission if they-did-net-falsify-internal documentation-aimed-at concealing

theall, thus strengthening its illegal aetivity—steering incentives.

2.3, These actions provided loanDepot an unfair competitive advantage by giving it the
ability to both drive unsuspecting borrowers to loans with the highest rates, while maintaining its
flexibility to lower rates to match competitors, who—in compliance with the applicable laws—
were forced to initiatly-offer borrowers mortgage loans with rates that more closely approximated

the best terms the lenders could offer. loanDepot’s actions were therefore unfair both to consumers

and competitors alike;a

Page 2 of 43
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3:4.  In violation of the Dodd—Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act

(“Dodd-Frank™), which amended TILA to prohibit compensation based upon loan terms,

loanDepot hnkedreduced the commission paid to loan officers tewhen loan officers were forced

to reduce the rates and fees consumers paid-_to match competition or otherwise convince a

borrower to move forward on a loan. To conceal this iHegal-commissionreduection-schemepractice,

loanDepot created_a proxy for loan terms through a system of sham internal transfers, requiring

loan officers who failed to push borrowers into higher rate loans to transfer (on paper only) the
borrower’s loan file to a-purpertedan “Internal Loan Consultant” or “ILC.” However, there was
no actual transfer of the loans-te-H-Cs—, as the ILC assumedperformed no additional-duties—anéd

on the loans, whereas the original loan officer eontinned-to-perform-the same-dutiesremained fully

involved and responsible, but atwas paid a reduced commission rate. Fhe-onlypurpese—efthe

sham-transfer-was—to—provide(hereinafter referred to as a “Sham Transfer”). In fact, this Sham

Transfer was simply a false-narrative-that-the proxy for loan effieer’scompensation-wasbeing

eterms, designed to conceal

the reduction in priee;whichleanDepotknewwasunlawful—compensation from the reduction in

the rates and fees consumers paid.

4.5.  leanDepot-furthered-its-concealment scheme by-ehoosingTo bolster this concealed

proxy—i.e. the Sham Transfer—IloanDepot created transfer forms designed to requiretoan-officers

whe—fatledfacilitate and encourage the creation of a phony paper trail in an attempt to push

legitimize the
retsons for the sesmsiese—the L0 faspdep popoeaine s cossaalodon nad o olbeenes g

Transfer. These practices were designed to conceal the reality that the transfer and corresponding

loan officer commission reduction waswere linked to a reduction in the leanterms— Further;

Page 3 of 43
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select.and - _the loan-officers failedrates or refused-to-do-so. toanDepot-eliminated-their
commissionaltogether-fees provided to customers.

5.6.  Finally, loanDepot attempted to conceal the illegal commission structure and Sham

Transfers by electronically rebesignedrobosigning the ILC’s signature on federally mandated loan

disclosure forms-that, including Loan Applications and Closing Disclosures. These forms were

signed “under penalty of perjury,” givingand gave the false appearance that the ILC was actually
involved in and responsible for the loan, when the ILC did not actually haveassume any inereasee

duties as a result of the “transfer”—Infact—the HoC-had-litteto-no-invelvement-ontransferred

mortgagetoans—Plaintiffs and Class members were victims of this illegal steering and were

charged higher interest rates and/or fees than were otherwise available through the

Page 4 of 43
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companyDefendant. As set forth herein, each and every borrower of the class is, at a minimum,
entitled to the return of all finance charges, including interest paid on such loans, as well as any
fees paid in connection with such loans, among other relief to which Plaintiffs are entitled by
statute, plus attorney’s fees. 15 U.S.C, §1640.
8 e
THE PARTIES

9-8.  Plaintiff Nathan Johnson is a resident of Ijamsville, Maryland. Plaintiff is a
“consumer” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1602(i), and the loans he obtained were primarily
for personal, family or household purposes.

10:9. Plaintiff Rachel DeBaun is a resident of Alexandria, Virginia. Plaintiff is a
“consumer” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1602(i), and the loans she obtained were
primarily for personal, family or household purposes.

+-10. Plaintifft Nathan Moore is a resident of Alexandria, Virginia. Plaintiff is a
“consumer” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1602(i), and the loans he obtained were primarily
for personal, family or household purposes.

12:11. Plaintiff Shawn Derrick is a resident of Spotsylvania, Virginia. Plaintiff is a

“consumer” as that term is defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1602(i), and the loans he obtained were primarily

for personal, family or household purposes.

14:12. loanDepot.com, LLC is a Delaware limited liability company that is a wholly

owned subsidiary of loanDepot, Inc. via its holding company LD Holdings. loanDepot.com LLC’s

{Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.5", No bullets or numbering }
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principal place of business is located at 26642 Towne Center Drive, Foothill Ranch, Orange
County, California. loanDepot.com, LLC is registered to do business in the State of Maryland,
sells residential mortgage lending products in Maryland and maintains multiple offices throughout
the State of Maryland.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

15:13. This Court has federal question jurisdiction over this action, pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 1331, as it arises under 15 U.S.C. § 1640.

16:14. This Court has personal jurisdiction over this action because loanDepot has
sufficient minimum contacts with this District and has purposefully availed itself of the privilege
of doing business in this District, such that it could reasonably foresee litigation being brought in
this District. This Court also has diversity jurisdiction over this action. See 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a).

+715. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a) through (d) because one

or more Plaintiffs reside in this district.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS:FHAVIOEATIONS AND- CONCEALMENT

The Loan Officer Compensation Rule (Rate-Based Compensation Ban) (12 C.FER. 1026.36)

Page 6 of 43
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19:16. loanDepot, like all lenders, is subject to Regulation Z (12 C.F.R. Pt. 1026),
including the loan officer compensation rule (12 C.F.R. § 1026.36). The loan officer compensation

rule (i.e. the Rate-Based Compensation Ban) was established as part of-the Dodd-Frank following

the subprime lending crises and the Great Recession of 2008.

20:17. Prior to the Rate-Based Compensation Ban, loan efficer—officers were lawfully

permitted to receive greater compensation rule;—theby selling higher the-interest rate en—the

loanloans or thecharging more #-upfront ehargesthe-consumerpaysto-the-ereditorfees (or bothy;
thegreater the-compensation-avatable) to theloan-originator—customers. “This created a situation

in which the loan originator had a financial incentive to “steer”” consumers into the highest interest
rate possible or to impose on the consumer additional upfront charges payable to the creditor.”!

21-18. Congress and the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”) determined that
such an-ineentive-wasincentives were both improper and dangerous to consumers:

In a perfectly competitive and transparent market, competition
would ensure that this incentive would be countered by the need to
compete with other loan originators to offer attractive loan terms to
consumers. However, the mortgage origination market is neither
always perfectly competitive nor always transparent, and consumers
(who take out a mortgage only a few times in their lives) may be
uninformed about how prices work and what terms they can expect.
This compensation structure was problematic...because the loan
originator had an incentive to steer borrowers into less favorable
pricing terms... 2

‘Bl ‘[ Formatted: Indent: Left: 1", Right: 1"

19.  RegulationZ As recognized by both the CFPB and the Federal Reserve Board, the

functional lack of transparency in shopping for a mortgage limited the viability of a truly

competitive market. Both the CFPB and the Federal Reserve Board noted that due to the

! Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection, Loan Originator Compensation Requirements Under the Truth in

Lending Act (Regulation Z) Final rules; official interpretations. 78 Fed. Reg. 11286 (Feb. 15, 2013).

Formatted: Font: 11 pt
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complexity of residential mortgage products and the limitations inherent in shopping for

mortgages, consumers had little choice but to rely on the goodwill of the lender and loan originator

to ensure they were getting the best price available. Yet, as the Federal Reserve Board recognized,

the loan originator had an undisclosed financial incentive adverse to the interest of the borrower.

See 78 Fed. Reg. 11300 (Feb. 15, 2013).

22.20.Regulation Z was designed with the intent to eliminate this adverse undisclosed‘*##{ Formatted: Indent: First line: 0.56"

incentive and instead align the interest of the borrower and the loan originator, while increasing

the transparency of pricing. To accomplish this, Regulation Z allows loan officers to be paid based

upon the volume of the loans they close, but expressly prohibits payments to loan originators based

on any term of the transaction and/or profitability of the loans- (“Rate-Based Compensation Ban”).

See 12 C.ER. § 1026.36(d)(1)—An-Official Comment to Regulation Z is particularly applicable to

this-ease:)(i):,

/{ Formatted: Font: Not Bold, No underline

Under—§102636(d)1);[1In_connection with a lean—eriginater’s

B e e NI
credit transaction—Thus—a-ereditor secured by a dwelling, no loan

originator shall receive and no person shall pay to a loan originator

oree ashal > avaata¥atial on

level-and—then—subsequently tower—it—, directly or indirectly.
compensation in seleetive-eases—{such-as—where—the-consumer-an
amount that is able to-obtain-a lower rate from-another-creditor).

RegulationZfurtherprohibitsbased on a term of a transaction, the terms of multiple

transactions by an individual loan originator, or the terms of multiple transactions by

multiple individual loan originators.

23.21.Further, loan originators are prohibited from directing or steering a consumer into*ﬁ‘[ Formatted: Indent: First line: 0.56"

a loan transaction where the loan originator will receive greater compensation from the lender:

In connection with a consumer credit transaction secured by a
dwelling, a loan originator shall not direct or “steer” a consumer to
consummate a transaction based on the fact that the originator will
receive greater compensation from the creditor in that transaction
than in other transactions the originator offered or could have
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offered to the consumer, unless the consummated transaction is in
the eenstmer'sconsumer’s interest.

12 CER. § 1026.36(e)(1).
24.22. Regulation Z similarly prohibits lenders from basing compensation on a proxy for
a loan term that achieves the same result:

If a loan originator’s compensation is based in whole or in part on a
factor that is a proxy for a term of a transaction, the loan originator’s
compensation is based on a term of a transaction. A factor that is
not itself a term of a transaction is a proxy for a term of the
transaction if the factor consistently varies with that term over a
significant number of transactions, and the loan originator has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to add, drop, or change the factor in
originating the transaction.

12 C.FR. § 1026.36(d)(1)().

23. Guidanee-by-the CEPB-speeifieallyAnd, Regulation Z prohibits ehangingaloan

an’s-lenders

from nearly every type of incentive based upon the profitability—Speeifieallyz12-C-ER-Comment
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§H02636-((H-S-states:=— of the loans closed by the loan officer. Thus, just as a lender may not

pay more to generate loans at higher interest rates, a lender may not pay less for generating loans

at lower interest rates. An Official Comment to Regulation Z directly addresses loanDepot’s

attempt to circumvent the rules through a “Front-Load & Discount Strategy”, whereby a lender

would initially start with higher commission tied to inflated rates and then decrease the

compensation of loan originators based on the terms of the loan:

26-  Thus, a creditor and a loan originator may not agree to set the loan"j Formatted: Indent: Left: 1", Line spacing: single, No
efigiﬂa%er—’s riginator's compensation at a certain level and then subsequently lower bullets or numbering

it in selective cases (such as where the consumer is able to obtain a lower rate from
another credltor -

wh&eh—was—set—&p&e&l—l—y—neaar—lv/othe credltor offers to extend credit w1th spec1ﬁed

terms and conditions (such as the rate and points), the amount of the lean-ameount;
wotd—beseverelyredueedsoriginator's compensation for that transaction is not

sub]ect to change ( increase orehmma%ed—depeﬂéﬂg ecrease } based on whether %he

leaﬂ—pﬂee—dlfferent credlt terms are negotlated For example, 1f the credltor agrees
to justifylower the sham-transfer-andrate that was initially offered. the new offer
may not be accompanied by a reduction in the loan effieer’soriginator's
compensatlon—at—a—lewef—mfé&ef—eemmrss&eﬂ—

78 Fed. Reg. 11423 (Feb. 15, 2013).

10
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24. In the 2013 preamble that accompanied the Rate-Based Compensation Ban, the

CFPB made clear that loanDepot’s Front-Load & Discount Strategy—reducing commissions for

loan officers who fail to steer borrowers into higher rate loans—boosts loan prices and, violated

the Ban:

Existing comment 36(d)(1)-5 prevents creditors and loan originators from evading

the prohibition in §1026.36(d)(1) by systematically setting loan originator
compensation at a non-competitive, artificially high baseline and then allowing
discretion to loan originators to lower their compensation (by giving the
concession) in selective cases, either unilaterally or upon request by consumers.
More sophisticated consumers who choose to negotiate the loan originator
compensation may benefit from the ability of loan originators to grant concessions.
On the other hand, if reductions in loan originator compensation to bear the cost of
pricing concessions were allowed under all circumstances, those consumers who
do not shop or who otherwise lack the knowledge or expertise to negotiate
effectively may be vulnerable to creditors or loan originators that consistently
inflate price quotes. Thus, an interpretation of §1026.36(d)(1)(i) to allow
reductions in loan originator compensation to bear the cost of a pricing concession
in a broad set of circumstances could create an opening to upcharge consumers
across the board.

78 Fed. Reg. 11333 (Feb. 15, 2013) (emphasis added).

25. The Federal Reserve Board implemented an analogous rule prohibiting such

compensation, similarly concluding:

The Board believes that permitting creditors to decrease loan originator
compensation because of a change in terms favorable to the consumer would result
in loopholes and permit evasions of the final rule. For example, a creditor could
agree to set originators’ compensation at a high level generally, and then
subsequently lower the compensation in selective cases based on the actual loan
terms, such as when the consumer obtains another offer with a lower interest rate.

sekok

This would have the same effect as increasing the originator s compensation for
higher rate loans. As noted above, the Board believes such compensation

practices are harmful and unfair to consumers.

Federal Reserve System, Truth in Lending: Final rule; official staff commentary, 75 Fed. Reg.

58524 (September 24, 2010) (emphasis added).

11
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28.26. The Rate-Based Compensation Ban was therefore designed to incentivize loan

officers to offer the lowest rate available at the outset of a relationship with a consumer, including

the Plaintiffs and similarly situated persons. SineeBecause the Rate-Based Compensation Ban tied

loan efficers-would-be-paid-based purely-on-the-officer pay solely to loan volume-efloans-seld,—

not to pricing or profitability—it would beinappesiterun directly counter to their financial interests

to initially-offer anything butother than the lewestmost competitive pricing available from the
outset. The faster they convinced a consumer to move forward, the more volume they could

originate. And offering inflated-rates higher than what was available from their lender would only

open the door for competition from other lenders. Since there was no benefit to selling at a higher

rates—a to the loan effieer’s—onbyofficer as long as the lender complied with the Rate-Based

Compensation Ban, the incentive to the loan officer would be to offer a lower rate up front-,

facilitate the transaction expeditiously, and maximize their loan volume irrespective of the rates

they charged. In short, the Rate-Based Compensation Ban was designed to ensure there would be

no incentive whatsoever for the loan originator to offer the borrower anything other than the lowest

rate they had available form their lender up front.

29.27. Further, because the compensation to a loan officer beeamewas required to be ﬁxedﬁ'—“‘{ Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.06", First line: 0.44"

after Dodd-Frank and the Rate-Based Compensation Ban, a lender could only reduce loan pricing

by reducing its profit margin on the loan—it could no longer reduce the commission payable to

the loan officer. The effect of eempensationtaws-the Rate-Based Compensation Ban—driving

loan officers to initially offer lower rates;

combined with the lenders’ reduced flexibility in

offering pricing exceptions-(e

more profitable loansto-offset diseounted-loans)’ would lead to lenders having more uniform loan

3 A “pricing exception” refers to a discount in rates or fees for a borrower.

12
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terms and-fewer-exeeptions-for similarly situated borrowers. Accordingly, while-law-abiding
lenders had to sacrifice profits to reduce loan terms;teanDepot-was-able—threugh-itsunlawfal
scheme—tocreate incentivesto both- to maximize profits. when possible. but also remain flexible

AdditienallyloanDepot s Illegal Commission Structure Scheme

28. Notwithstanding Regulation Z and its Rate-Based Compensation Ban, loanDepot

designed its compensation plan to incentivize loan officers based upon the profitability and the

terms of the loans they closed. loanDepot devised a plan that instead of paying loan officers more

13
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to raise rates, it baked in the higher compensation and higher loan prices at the outset of the

relationship, thus raising prices on all borrowers. When loan terms needed to be substantively

reduced, loanDepot required the loan to proceed via a “Sham Transfer,” to justify a reduction in

the loan officers’ commission to offset the reduction in the rates/fees offered to the borrower. As

such, loan officers were specifically incented to offer loans at higher rates for which they would

receive their contractually promised compensation. But, if the loan officer could not convince the

borrower to move forward at a higher rate, they were expected to lower the rate and receive a

reduced commission rate for that loan or no commission at all. The Sham Transfer was the vehicle

or “proxy” utilized to facilitate this unlawful compensation scheme. As previously indicated, the

CFPB and the Federal Reserve anticipated this crude attempt to evade the Rate-Based

Compensation Ban and made clear that this Front-Load & Discount Strategy was violative of the

Rate-Based Compensation Ban. See 78 Fed. Reg. 11333 (Feb. 15, 2013); 75 Fed. Reg. 58524

(September 24, 2010).

29. Not only did this retain the unlawful incentive in violation of Regulation Z, but it

also actually exacerbated the harms that the Rate-Based Compensation Ban was intended to cure.

Instead of some customers being subjected to higher rates, all customers would now be forced

toward higher rates unless they were able to convince a loan officer to forego all or part of their

commission to which they were entitled. Moreover, the hidden adverse incentive would remain in

place, further concealed by loan Depot’s illegal practices. And, loanDepot would remain able to

offer borrowers higher rates, while remaining flexible to reduce compensation and terms to match

competitors — a significant advantage over law abiding lenders.

30. Yet, loanDepot could not simply implement an express policy reducing or

eliminating a loan officer’s compensation if it needed to match a competitor’s pricing to close a

14
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loan since that violated the Rate-Based Compensation Ban. Defendant therefore used the Sham

Transfers to ILC’s as a proxy. As set forth herein, there is ample pre-discovery evidence that

loanDepot (i) never actually transferred loans that it labeled transfers; and (ii) utilized Sham

Transfers to reduce compensation to loan officers on loans where pricing exceptions were needed

to match a competitor.

31. An example of an agreement that outlines a loan officer’s compensation plan is the

loanDepot Role Specific Incentive Terms sheet, attached hereto as Exhibit A. According to that

compensation plan, the loan officer was paid a standard 120 basis points to originate a loan. See

Exh. A at 001453-001454. However, if the loan officer originated a loan referred to as a “Permitted

Loan Transfer” the compensation was reduced to 30 basis points. See Exh. A. Id. at 1454.

32. A loan could qualify as a Permitted Loan Transfer if, among other reasons, the loan

officer certified he was away from the office and needed assistance and/or if the consumer

requested in writing to transfer the loan to another loan officer a type of Sham Transfer. See Exh.

A at 1456-1457.

33. While a bona fide loan officer transfer—based on legitimate, documented customer

requests—may not violate the Rate-Based Compensation Ban, loanDepot’s actual practices bore

no resemblance to such lawful conduct. In reality, the so-called “transfers” were nothing more

than a mirage—an internal sleight of hand, akin to a shell game or a rigged game of three-card
monte. These Sham Transfers existed solely on paper, lacked any genuine customer impetus, and

served one purpose: to conceal impermissible reductions in loan officer compensation triggered

by price concessions.

15
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A former loanDepot loan processer testified under oath, subject to cross

examination about the role of the original loan officer and ILC on a loan that was purportedly

“transferred””:

35.

[N]othing changed on the loan. We still worked with the same loan officer and the
same loan officer assistants. It was a name. I-—I really don't know if it was a real
person. I think it was — I think it was just—or at the time we all joked about the fact
that it was an alias, you know, like calling somebody, you know, George Washington

or Bill Clinton in the system. It was the same thing. Juanita was just a name that the
loan went to. They could start the loan over and get it closed. We didn't have any

interaction with this person and we didn't have any assistance from this person. If we
had to change something in the loan, if the lock had to be updated, if somebody
had to go talk to the borrower, it was always the original loan officers.*

Indeed, the former loan officer at loanDepot explained these transfers were merely

“smoke and mirrors:”

36.

Q: Okay. Now, when a loan was transferred in name to an ILC, was there an actual
change in who did the work?
A: No.

sokok

Q: Okay. So when there was a transfer for pricing to an ILC, how did that change what
the initial loan officer did on the file?

A: It did not change.

Q: How did that change what the LO or processor did on the file?

A: It didn't change. It was the same — same duties as they would do on a loan that was
still in the originator stage.

. Well, then how could you really call it a transfer?

. Because it reduced your compensation.

: Yeah, but, I mean, a transfer suggests there was a change of responsibility, right?

. It was three-card monte. It was literally just smoke in mirrors ... >

tdelrde

Moreover, not only were these transfers “smoke and mirrors,” the reality is they

were specifically “required” to reduce compensation when loanDepot had to match another

lender’s terms:

4 _Exhibit 10, Day 5 Hearing Transcript Excerpt at 1439:8-1440:10, loanDepot.com, LLC v. Movement Mortg., LLC,

No. 23-0681 (D. Del. May 28, 2024), Doc. 71-9 (attached hereto as Exhibit G).

> Exhibit 10, Day 5 Hearing Transcript Excerpt at 1747:11-22, loanDepot.com, LLC v. Movement Mortg., LLC, No.

23-0681 (D. Del. May 28, 2024), Doc. 71-9 (attached hereto as Exhibit G).

16
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the company began requiring [loan officers] to refer or transfer certain loans ... to
“Internal Loan Consultants™ .... I was only paid 30 bps on these loans, which would
result in my commissions frequently being lower than the 90 basis points to which
I was contractually entitled. I believe at some point I may not have been paid on
these loans at all.

Hokok

[i]f there was a borrower who was aggressively shopping for loans and stated they

would go with another lender, for the sake of the relationship with the referral
artner, you would save the deal by putting the loan in [the ILC’s] name.

Hokok

There was a joke around the company that [my ILC] was not a real person. I never
spoke to her. I don’t know for sure, but I don’t believe she did any work. The
borrowers also didn’t know who she was.

Loan Officer 1 Decl. 9 4-6.°

37. Yet another former loan officer certified that these Sham Transfers, utilized

specifically to match a competitors pricing, were “directed” by loanDepot managers:

While at loanDepot, there were instances where I was directed to transfer my loan
to an Internal Loan Consultant to close the loan. My understanding was that this
occurred when loanDepot was trying to match a competitor and the loan pricing
was not profitable for the company with my compensation plan. In those instances,
Brian Covey, my Regional Manager, would advise me that if [ transferred the loan

to an ILC, I would receive a lower referral commission and the company could
make the deal. . .[M]y team still closed the loans and did the same amount of work

they would have had it been my loan. ... I have never spoken to [the ILC] and
never received a responsive email from her.

Loan Officer 2 Decl. 9 4-9.7

38. Another former loan officer confirmed that their manager instructed loan officers

to execute Sham Transfers by having them put loans in an ILC’s name to reduce the interest rate

being offered to the borrower, but that the loan officer remained fully responsible for the loan and

the corresponding compensation was reduced or eliminated:

Within weeks of joining loanDepot, Brian Covey presented an option to me where
loan officers would put certain loans in [an ILC’s] name — typically, this was the

° A full copy of this declaration will be provided to opposing counsel upon filing the Amended Complaint.
7 A full copy of this declaration will be provided to opposing counsel upon filing the Amended Complaint.
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case for loans where a borrower would say that we needed to match or beat another
offer. ... We would make [the ILC] the loan officer of record, but the original loan
officer would still handle the loan and do all the work, including handling the
communications, document collection and all the other duties. They just wouldn’t

get paid on it ... | would be willing to bet that the borrower didn’t even know who
the ILC was . . .

Loan Officer 3 Decl. 17 4-6.%

39. In reality, Permitted Loan Transfers were not legitimate. As set forth above,

multiple loanDepot loan officers confirmed that there was “no change” in duties when a loan was

transferred to an ILC. The ILC’s did nothing on the file, to the point that multiple loan officers

doubted if the ILC was even a “real person.”

40. The Sham Transfers were not actually for the reasons enumerated in the Permitted

Loan Transfer forms. Rather, multiple loan officers confirmed that the transfers were really

associated with reducing compensation on loans where loanDepot had to reduce the rates to match

competition from other lenders. And the testimony of these employees is confirmed by high level

executives such as John Bianchi loanDepot’s EVP National Production Manager Distributed

Retail, who in the ordinary course of business instructed:

can we please transfer the loans to the ILC prior to doing the [pricing exception] request.
It becomes problematic for us to lock and transfer after the fact.’

41]. The reason it was “problematic’ to request a pricing exception before “transferring”

the loan to an ILC is obvious: Defendant wanted to know that a loan was transferred and therefore

compensation reduced (or eliminated) before agreeing to a pricing exception, because the real

reason for the transfer was to eliminate or reduce compensation to the loan officer when pricing

8 A full copy of this declaration will be provided to opposing counsel upon filing the Amended Complaint.
9 Exhibit 9, March 11, 2020 Email from J. Bianchi, loanDepot.com, LLC v. Movement Mortg., LLC, No. 23-0681 (D.
Del. May 28, 2024), Doc. 71-8 (attached hereto as Exhibit H).
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exceptions were needed. loanDepot’s Corporate Designee confirmed this, by explaining how Mr.

Bianchi and another executive, Mr. Paul Ramos, wanted to know about the ILC transfer before

approving pricing exception requests:

. And when you’re saying “send on,” you're talking about sending on to Mr. Ramos
and/or Mr. Bianchi for approval, right?
A: Correct.
Q: Okay. So it’s important for them to see that it had been put in an ILC name before
you sent it on [for a pricing exception], right?
A: Correct.
Q: Because that would tell them that the hundred basis points you otherwise were
paying the loan officer isn’t in there anymore, right?
A: Correct.'®

42. Loan officers understood and followed these instructions for a Sham Transfer

before requesting pricing exceptions. As set forth in the examples of screenshots from loanDepot’s

Mello'" loan origination system, loan officers would need to specifically highlight the transfer of

a loan to an ILC when requesting a pricing exception for customers to match the lower rates that

competitors offered. See Exhibit 6, Nov. 12, 2021 pricing exception approval, loanDepot.com,

LLC v. Movement Mortg., LLC, No. 23-0681 (D. Del. May 28, 2024), Doc. 71-5 (loan is in the

ILC, salvaging it. Won’t stick with us unless matching broker at 2.875%) (attached hereto as

Exhibit C); Exhibit 7, Oct. 13, 2021 pricing exception approval, loanDepot.com, LLC v. Movement

Mortg., LLC, No. 23-0681 (D. Del. May 28, 2024), Doc. 71-6 (“ILC deal competing against

BOA”) (attached hereto as Exhibit D); Exhibit 8, June 14, 2021 pricing exception approval

loanDepot.com, LLC v. Movement Mortg., LLC, No. 23-0681 (D. Del. May 28, 2024), Doc. 71-7

(“Large Financial Advisor, first deal giving me and his own. Shopped us with prior company, was

able to secure with this rate. Is an ILC deal”) (attached hereto as Exhibit E).

10 Exhibit 11, loanDepot.com, LLC v. Movement Mortg., LLC, No. 23-0681 (D. Del. May 28, 2024). Doc. 71-10
(attached hereto as Exhibit B).

' Mello is loanDepot’s proprietary digital internal loan origination lending platform and software application.
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43. The correlation between pricing and Sham Transfers is apparent from a April 27,

2021 email thread between manager Brian Covey and loanDepot’s Director of Human Resources,

discussing the compensation payable to a loan officer who needed a pricing exception due to an

expired rate lock.'”> While explaining that a Permitted Loan Transfer (including one for a written

customer request) would qualify for commission, the instant scenario did not qualify for as it did

not fall into the Permitted Loan Transfer category. Nonetheless the loan officer is still instructed

by his manager to transfer the loan to the ILC and then submit a PE (pricing exception) for a

reduced rate. This reflects the correlation between the pricing, the Sham Transfer to the ILC, and

the reduction in the loan officer’s commission. Here. to obtain the pricing concession, the loan

officer was specifically told to submit a transfer and that he would not receive compensation.

44, The testimony of multiple loan officers, loanDepot’s own corporate designee,

emails from top executives, and publicly available screen shots from its loan origination system,

demonstrate that not only were the transfers to ILCs a Sham Transfer, but they were also instituted

in order to justify lower compensation when loanDepot need to reduce the rates and/or fees on a

loan to match a competitor.

3+——O0Of course, loanDepot continued to incentivize loan officers to produce volume
through bonuses and other rewards that promoted high volume loan officers and penalized lower
volume loan officers through demotion, reduced perks, and termination ferof loan officers whose

volume substantially diminished.

12 When a rate lock expires, it causes the borrower to need to pay to extend the rate or risk the interest rate of their
loan increasing if current interest rate conditions have worsened. This extension request therefore costs the borrower
additional upfront fees. In the case of this email thread, the loan officer was requesting an exception so that the
borrower’s overall cost of the loan would not increase.

3 As set forth below, the only difference between loans with no compensation and those with the reduced
compensation is related to whether the loan officer certified the loan as a Permitted Loan Transfer. If the loan officer

did not provide the certification, they received no compensation, but if they provided the certification with one of the
enumerated reasons, they received the reduced compensation.
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32.45. SimtlarlyThus, even without the commission on a particular loan file, there

remained some incentives to originate even discounted loans. Indeed, mid-level managers were

evaluated based upon both volume and profitability in their region. Accordingly, mid-level
managers and loan officers alike were required to drive both profitability and volume, meaning
that loan officers were effectively required by policies, practices and by supervisors to sell loans

at higher rates, but also accept lewercompensationreduced commission on a loan if thata

substantive pricing exception was necessary-te-eloseloans.
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leanDepotloanDepot’s illegal commission structure scheme affected all of its loans. Higher priced

loans carried higher commissions and unless a customer were able to convince a loan officer to
forego commission on a loan, the borrower would receive the higher rates and fees violating the

principal purposes of the Rate-Based Compensation Ban: to eliminate hidden incentives and incent

loan officers to initially offer the lowest prices available from the lender.

loanDepot s Fraudulent Concealment of its Proxy

47. As detailed above, the regulatory definition of a proxy requires two elements: (i) a

consistent correlation between the loan terms offered to borrowers and the compensation paid to

loan originators; and (ii) that the correlation is driven by a factor within the originator’s direct or

indirect control. As set forth above, testimony from both loan officers and loanDepot executives
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confirms that such a correlation existed—specifically between pricing exceptions and Sham

Transfers.

48. In an attempt to obscure the fact that these Sham Transfers functioned as unlawful

proxies for loan terms, loanDepot created the so-called “Permitted Loan Transfer” forms. These

forms were structured to artificially supply reasons for the transfer that appeared to be outside the

loan officer’s control, thereby attempting to negate a regulatory finding that the transfers were a

proxy. However, there is substantial pre-discovery evidence that loanDepot knowingly

encouraged, facilitated, and accepted the falsification of these forms. Rather than documenting

legitimate, borrower-initiated requests, the forms were routinely used to paper the file with

fabricated justifications to conceal the fact that the Sham Transfers were a proxy, enabling

loanDepot to implement a compensation scheme that blatantly violated the Rate-Based

Compensation Ban.

49. Although loanDepot’s “Permitted Loan Transfer” policy purported to limit transfers

to certain enumerated justifications, in practice, loanDepot routinely allowed transfers that did not

meet the policy’s own definition of a ‘“Permitted Transfer.” See Exhibit 2. April 27, 2021, Email

from M. Alexander to B. Covey, loanDepot.com, LLC v. Movement Mortg., LLC, No. 23-0681 (D.

Del. May 28, 2024), Doc. 71-1 (attached hereto as Exhibit F) (demonstrating that a loan that was

not a Permitted Loan transfer would nonetheless be transferred to obtain a pricing exception, but

the loan officer would receive no commission). The difference between a “Permitted Transfer” of

a loan and a loan that did not meet the definition, was simply compensation. If the loan did not

meet the definition of a “Permitted Transfer” then the transfer was still allowed, but the loan officer

suffered an even more extreme form of compensation reduction — they were simply not paid any

commission on the loan. loanDepot’s choice to use this framework created a powerful financial
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coercion mechanism: loan officers were effectively forced to certify one of the approved

“Permitted Transfer” reasons, even if untrue, in order to avoid complete forfeiture of commission

on the loan. In this way, the policy incentivized the fabrication of justification language to mask

what were, in substance, prohibited pricing-based compensation adjustments.

50. In addition to financially incentivizing the certification of false transfer forms,

Defendant knowingly encouraged it through unwritten policies and practices that gave a wink-

and-a-nod to the practices. From its inception the Permitted Loan Transfer policy allowed for

loans transferred for a loan officer’s extended absence and a customer’s written request. However,

rather than simply utilizing a vacation schedule or the customer’s actual request to substantiation

the transfer request, loanDepot instead allowed the loan officer to certify these conditions. No

back-up documentation was required to be submitted. So rather than rely upon documentation—

even when its existence was by definition a necessary condition precedent—IloanDepot literally

ignored that information and instead accepted a loan officer’s say so. Accordingly, loanDepot all

but invited the falsification of Permitted Loan Transfers considering that the submission of these

forms was necessary to receive compensation.

51. If that were not enough, loanDepot managers actively encouraged and instructed

loan officers to falsify the Permitted Loan Transfer Forms. A former loanDepot loan officer who

worked in a region under the direction of Jeremy Boerdner, Vice President for Regional

Production, informed counsel that Mr. Boerdner would routinely instruct loan officers in his region

to transfer loans to ILCs if they needed to be competitive and to fill out forms indicating the

“transfer” was based upon a customer request “if they wanted to get paid.” These instructions and

directives were routinely and repeatedly announced at meetings. This former loan officer also
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confirmed that transfers to an ILC were not legitimate, as the ILC never actually worked on the

loan.

52. Similarly, loan officers who worked under Chris Holloway. a different Regional

Manager, were specifically directed to utilize Sham Transfers to circumvent the Rate-Based

Compensation Ban. They were also instructed to fill out Permitted Loan Transfer forms selecting

“customer requested transfer” if the loan officers wanted to receive any compensation on the loans.

On both occasions, the managers’ instructions were made generally and unrelated to any pending

transfer or request, meaning they were indifferent to whether the reason for the transfer request

was accurate.

53. Further, loanDepot chose not to audit the requests for transfer, never required

borrower confirmation, never investigated why customers would be requesting a transfer away

from their original loan officer, and never disciplined loan officers with high rates of customer

requested transfers. loanDepot chose not to take any of these actions because it knew the forms

were inaccurate because its managers plainly told loan officers to falsify the forms in an effort to

conceal the fact that the Sham Transfers were a proxy for loan terms.

54. It also explains why loanDepot chose to never inquire why loan officers would

have a multitude of customer transfer requests, even though under any legitimate circumstances

such volume of transfers would suggest a serious job performance deficiency. In fact, rather than

treat a high volume of supposed customer transfer requests as a red flag indicating possible

misconduct or performance deficiencies, loanDepot awarded some of these same loan officers

with Chairman’s Club honors—despite the existence of numerous alleged borrower-initiated

transfers. Under any legitimate compliance framework, such numerous alleged borrower-

initiated transfers would have warranted investigation, retraining, or discipline.
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55. loanDepot made the internal falsification of the forms simple and without risk.

Managers openly instructed and encouraged loan officers to falsify the reason for the transfer ““if

they wanted to get paid.” Thus the Permitted Loan Transfer forms were another layer of

concealment, in effect a redundancy so that even if the first prong of the proxy definition were

discovered—the correlation between Sham Transfers and pricing exceptions—IloanDepot had a

paper trail to create the illusion that these Sham Transfers did not meet the second prong of the

definition because they were outside the loan officers’ control.'* So. the fabrication of reasons for

Sham Transfers, was another layer of concealment to attempt to hide loanDepot’s illegal

commission scheme.

42.56. loanDepot’s efforts to conceal its illegal commission scheme did not stop here.
loanDepot also utilized an automated electronic system where an ILC’s signature was placed on
loan disclosures and closing documents that were provided to borrowers under penalty of perjury.
Despite knowing that the original loan officer remained responsible for the loan, loanDepot created

a method of falsely affixing an ILC’s signature on_closing disclosures, loan applications, and other

federally required loan disclosure forms that would falsely reflect that the ILC was the responsible
loan officer, even though the borrower did not know the ILC, did not work with the ILC, and the
ILC was not performing any additional services on the loan. As such, loanDepot caused the

systematiesystemic falsification of federal lending forms on loans purportedly “transferred” to

ILCs to bear the signature of the ILC rather than the original/actual loan officer, to facilitate the

sham-transfer seheme-"concealment of its unlawful compensation practices.

14 See 12 C.F.R. 1026.36(d)(1)(i). (“A factor that is not itself a term of a transaction is a proxy for a term of the
transaction if the factor consistently varies with that term over a significant number of transactions, and the loan
originator has the ability, directly or indirectly, to add, drop, or change the factor in originating the transaction.”).
s - oy - - o — TP — P T
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57. As-arestltA loanDepot loan officer confirmed this practice under oath:

The only way a borrower would know who she was is from the closing documents they
would sign, where [the ILC] was listed as the loan officer. In fact, I don’t know if [the ILC]
was a real person. I never got an email from her and never spoke to her.

Loan Officer 3 Decl. 4 6.
58. Additionally, loanDepot made material misrepresentations and intentionally

omitted material facts from its SEC filings. For example, in its S-1 filing with the SEC leading up

to its initial public offering in 2021, loanDepot failed to disclose its loan officer compensation

scheme despite touting its “transparency” with consumers and claiming that its “company culture

is built around the tenets of responsibility and accountability.” loanDepot, Inc. Registration

Statement (Form S-1) (SEC filed Jan. 11, 2021). Indeed, loanDepot “believe[d] that the principal

factors that generally determine competitive advantage within our market include [among other
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things]. . . overall customer experience, including transparency throughout each step of the

transaction . . . and trust . ...” Id.

59. Tellingly, as part of its S-1 disclosures, loanDepot affirmatively stated that it had to

comply with “certain practices related to loan officer compensation.” /d. In particular, loanDepot

affirmatively stated that TILA and Regulation Z include “the rules on loan officer compensation.”

Id. Having affirmatively made these points, loanDepot was under a legal duty to tell the whole

truth, which necessarily included the fact that it was intentionally engaged in a years’ long practice

of widespread TILA violations. loanDepot advanced similar misleading half-truths in its

subsequent SEC filings. See loanDepot, Inc., Annual Reports (Form 10-K) (SEC filed Mar. 16,

2021; Mar. 18, 2022; Mar. 16, 2023; Mar. 15, 2024; Mar. 13, 2025).

60. Not only did loanDepot intentionally conceal its illegal conduct, it affirmatively

recognized that its failure to comply with federal law could “materially adversely affect our

business, financial condition and results of operations.” loanDepot, S-1 (SEC filed Jan. 11, 2021).

loanDepot described its legal compliance framework as follows:

We are required to comply with a wide array of federal, state and

local laws and regulations that regulate, among other things, the

manner in which we conduct our loan origination and servicing
activities, the terms of our loans and the fees that we may charge,

and the collection, use, retention, protection, disclosure, transfer and
other processing of personal information. See “Business—
Supervision and regulation.” A material or continued failure to
comply with any of these laws or regulations could subject us to
lawsuits or governmental actions and/or damage our reputation,
which could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

1d. loanDepot made similar statements in its subsequent SEC filings. See loanDepot, Annual

Reports (Form 10-K) (SEC filed Mar. 16, 2021; Mar. 18, 2022; Mar. 16, 2023; Mar. 15, 2024; Mar.

13,2025).
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61. In assessing its risks of non-compliance, loanDepot provided a laundry list of

adverse actions for violations of law:

[Olur failure to comply . . . with these laws or regulations may result

in costly litigation or enforcement actions, the penalties for which
could include but are not limited to: revocation of required licenses;
fines and other monetary penalties; civil and criminal liability:
substantially reduced payments by borrowers; modification of the

original terms of loans, permanent forgiveness of debt, or inability
to directly or indirectly collect all or a part of the principal of or

interest on loans; delays in the foreclosure process and increased

servicing advances; and increased repurchase and indemnification
claims.

loanDepot S-1 (SEC filed Jan. 11, 2021). loanDepot similarly recognized the materiality of such
illegal conduct in its subsequent SEC filings. See loanDepot, Annual Reports (Form 10-K) (SEC

filed Mar. 16, 2021; Mar. 18, 2022; Mar. 16, 2023; Mar. 15, 2024; Mar. 13, 2025).

62. loanDepot made additional misrepresentations in its SEC filings. For example, in

describing its profitability centers, loanDepot omitted the increased profitability it experienced as

a result of its illegal steering scheme. See loanDepot S-1 (SEC filed Jan. 11, 2021).

63. Moreover, on every loan sold on the secondary market, loanDepot affirmatively
(and falsely) represented that each loan was originated in accordance with all federal lending laws.

Each secondary market investor required loanDepot to represent and warrant such legal

compliance as part of the investor’s Secondary Market/Loan Purchase Agreement and/or Seller

Guide. By representing and warrantying that its loans did not violate the Rate-Based Compensation

Ban, loanDepot knowingly concealed its illegal compensation practices.

64. In fact, while loanDepot was engaged in these practices, its SVP of Retail Business

Development posted a Linkedin video stating “you have some organizations sliding into their

contracts that if you take too big a PE [pricing exception] they just don’t pay you, which I didn’t
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know that you could pay differently based on pricing.”'® The loanDepot SVP of Retail Business

Development was correct. Such a practice violates the Rate-Based Compensation Ban. Yet it is

exactly what was part of loanDepot’s illegal commission structure scheme and was something

loanDepot was internally telling its loan officers that the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau

had approved.

65. loanDepot managers and executives repeatedly infused confidence in the

compliance of its practices internally by telling loan officers that the CFPB had approved

loanDepot’s compensation practices. High level executives, including but not limited to Michelle

Alexander, loanDepot’s director of Human Resources, and John Bianchi, told loan officers that it

was lawful to eliminate compensation on loans that were “transferred” based upon pricing, and

that the practice had been approved by the CFPB. And to the extent there were unwritten practices

that expanded these actions in a manner that was not directly inconsistent from loanDepot’s

carefully worded policies, this furthered the confidence and reliance by loan officers that

loanDepot’s practices were lawful. Thus, loanDepot concealed the illegality to its loan officers,

and encouraged them to engage in behaviors that benefitted the company financially by giving it

an advantage over competitors.

loanDepot’s Actions Harmed_Plaintiffs and the Class /{ Formatted: Font: Italic, Underline

44-66. Plaintiffs and each and every member of the Class were steered towards mere

expensive-loans with higher prices by loan officers who were direetedrequired to offer the-highest

prieing-and-finaneially-punishedthose higher prices under threat that if they did not-sueeessfully
sell

16 Shane Stanton, LinkedIn (2024), https://www.linkedin.com/feed/update/urn:li:activity:7130592820079288320/
(last visited Oct. 3. 2025).
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aetivitiesthe loan at or near those prices, they would receive either reduced compensation or would

receive no compensation whatsoever.

leanDepet-loanDepot’s circumvention of Rate-Based Compensation Ban provided it with more

flexible and broader ranges of pricing than other lenders could offer-as-a-result-ofits—unlawful
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aetions-. Instead of having to narrow pricing-and-compensation bands to remain both competitive

and compliant in an environment where compensation could not be lowered to maintain

profitability, loanDepot was able to first offer borrowers loans that were highly inflated in terms

of cost, and then retreat into more competitively priced loans by lowering theor in some cases

eliminating direct compensation efto its loan officers. Thiscontributedto-loanDepot’'svolumeand

49:68. As aresult of loanDepot’s illegal praeticescommission structure scheme, Plaintiffs

were harmed and injured in the following manner:

a.

Plaintiffs were steered toward loans with higher rates and/or fees than were+

otherwise available with loanDepot as a result of policies that punishedreduced

Filed 10/03/25

Page 34 of 43
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direct compensation to loan officers for diselosing—er—offering lewer—available

ratespricing_exceptions, and these—pelicies—andpraeticesthis scheme adversely

affected the cost on the Plaintiffs’ loans and every loan eriginated—through

leanDepetin the proposed class;

PlaintiffsPlaintiffs, and all members of the proposed class who they seek to

represent, were steered towards loans with higher interest rates and upfront fees and
not informed or advised of identical loan products with lower rates and fees that
were available from loanDepot at the relevant time in violation of 15 USC §4939

(5)1639b(c)(1);

PlaintiffsPlaintiffs, and all members of the proposed class who they seek to

represent, were not advised that loan officers—who were not supposed to be

incentivized to convince borrowers to agree to loans with higher rates and fees—
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were actually incentivized to do so, and therefore those loan officers had an
undisclosed financial interest adverse to the Plaintiffs’ interests and in violation of

federal lending laws_including the Rate-Based Compensation Ban;

d. The loans Plaintiffs, and all members of the proposed class who they seek to

represent, received from loanDepot carried higher interest rates or upfront fees than
were otherwise available threugh-the-companyfrom Defendant as a result of its use
of an unlawful aetionsProxy as described herein;

e. The loans Plaintiffs received from loanDepot were the direct product of prohibited
steering and material omissions in violation of 15 USC §+939(b31639b(c)(1); and

f. Plaintiffs received more expensive loans than were otherwise available from
loanDepot, meaning that Plaintiffs paid higher upfront costs and fees, and over the
life of the loan paid (and will continue to pay) a higher interest rate than was
otherwise available from loanDepot but for the unlawful steering to which Plaintiffs
were subjected.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS RELATED TO
THE INDIVIDUAL CLASS REPRESENTATIVES

50-69. Plaintiff Nathan Johnson obtained a loan from loanDepot on the property located~—— { Formatted: Indent: First line: 0.5"

at 3052 AverlyAverley Road, Ijamsville, MD 21754 on or about September 12, 2019.

54:70. Plaintiff Rachel DeBaun obtained a loan from loanDepot on the property located at
3101 Woodland Lane, Alexandria, VA 22309 on or about June 16, 2021.

52-71. Plaintiff Nathan Moore obtained a loan from loanDepot on the property located at
913 Duke Street, Alexandria, VA 22314 on or about July 17, 2020.

53-72. Plaintiff Shawn Derrick obtained a loan from loanDepot on the property located at

7109 Springbrook Terrace, Spotsylvania, VA 22553 on or about July 2, 2020.
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54— Plaintiff AlanRabinowitz-obtained-aPlaintiffs loan fremteanbDepet-endocuments

were signed by the

55.73. Neneoftheforegoingloan officer who they personally worked with, indicating that

their loans were not transferred to H=C’san ILC. Therefore, each of these borrowers paid a higher

interest rate and/or higher fees than were otherwise availables- from loanDepot—and to which each

was entitled—and each of the borrowers was subjected to loanDepot’s unlawful steering towards
loans with higher rates and fees than were otherwise available at the company.

74. At no time were Plaintiffs Johnson, Derrick, Moore, or DeBaun aware or otherwise

on notice of loanDepot’s illegal steering practice before, at the time of, or after their respective

loans settled. Each of these Plaintiffs acted diligently in connection with their loanDepot

transaction, and none of their closing documents or other materials reviewed in connection with

their mortgage loan identified or suggested that loanDepot compensated its loan officers differently

based on the interest rates and fees charged on residential mortgage loans. It was not until Plaintiffs

communicated with counsel, or were informed by one another, that they first became aware of

even the possibility of loanDepot’s conduct and/or that they were injured because of it. All such

communications occurred in or after December 2024. Plaintiffs were not aware if they had been

affected by these practices until their closing documents were reviewed by counsel sometime in

the spring or summer of 2025. Plaintiffs filed the present action on July 15, 2025, which is within

three years of Plaintiffs first becoming aware of their respective cause of action.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
56.75. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and all other similarly situated

individuals pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23, and the alleged class is defined as follows:
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All individuals in the United States who, between January 1, 2019,
to the present, obtained a residential mortgage loan (as defined in 15
USC § 1602(dd)(5) of TILA) from loanDepot through its retail
division, excluding from the class those persons whose loans were
transferred to Internal Loan Consultants (the “Class”). Exempted
from this class is any person who, during the period of January 1,
2019, to the present, was an employee, officer, member and/or agent
of loanDepot, and any judicial officer who handles this case, and the
immediate family members of such judicial officer(s).

57:76. There are questions of law and fact common to the claims of each and all members

of the Class. These common questions include, but are not limited to:

a. Whether loanDepot and/or its employees and/or agents violated TILA; “——| Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a,
b, ¢, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:
b. Whether Plaintiffs and Class members were steered towards mortgage loans that 0.75" + Indent at: 1"

contained higher rates and less favorable terms by loanDepot loan officers;

c. Whether loanDepot actively concealed the true purpose of ILC transfers and
steering schemes to avoid detection by Plaintiffs and Class members;

d. Whether loanDepot maximized its profits at the expense of Plaintiffs and the Class
members who accepted the inflated rates initially offered by loanDepot;

e. Whether Plaintiffs and the Class members are entitled to statutory damages under
TILA;

f.  Whether Plaintiffs and the Class members are entitled to attorneys’ fees and costs
under TILA; and

g. Whether, despite exercising reasonable due diligence, Plaintiffs and the Class
members did not and could not have reasonably learned of the illegal ILC transfer

and steering practices employed by loanDepot; and
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58:77. These common issues of law and fact, and the common statutory measure of
damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1640, predominate over any question affecting only individual Class
members.

59:78. Due to loanDepot’s efforts to conceal the ILC transfer and steering schemes from
Plaintiffs, Class members, and regulators, Plaintiffs did not, and could not, have discovered the
schemes before, at the time of, or after the settlement of their residential mortgage loans despite
acting reasonably and diligently, including reviewing the loan documents related to the closing of
their loans.

60-79. Plaintiffs’ transactions and the course of events carried out by loanDepot exemplify
and are typical of the unlawful compensation systems and concealment thereof designed to
maximize loanDepot’s profits at the expense of Plaintiffs and those similarly situated.

80. The Class is ascertainable because loanDepot maintained a proprietary internal loan

origination software application (Mello) through and within which loanDepot recorded all

instances in which a loan was transferred to an ILC. Identifying Class members and their

associated loans can be accomplished through the straightforward exercise of running a search for

all loans originated during the Class Period and then excluding from the results those loans for

which Mello identifies an ILC transfer.

61-81. Plaintiffs’ damages for the TILA violations are subject to a statutory measure of
damages equal to actual damages and the sum of all finance charges and fees paid by the Plaintiffs,
as set forth in 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(1) and (4). This statutory measure of damages is common to
all Class members.

62-82. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class. The interests

of the named Plaintiffs and all other members of the Class are identical.
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83. Plaintiffs’ counsel has substantial experience in complex litigation and class action

proceedings, and will adequately represent the Class’s interests.

63-84. The Class consists, upon information and belief, of thousands of borrowers, and
thus is so numerous that joinder of all individual members is impracticable.

64-85. Separate actions by individual members of the Class would create a risk of
inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to individual members of the Class that would
establish incompatible standards of conduct for loanDepot.

65:86. This action entails questions of law and fact common to Class members that
predominate over any question affecting only individual Plaintiffs and therefore a class action is
superior to other available methods of fair and efficient adjudication of this litigation.

66-87. Most Class members are unaware of their rights to prosecute a claim against
loanDepot.

67-.88. No member of the Class has a substantial interest in individually controlling the
prosecution of a separate action, but if he or she does, he or she may exclude himself or herself
from the class upon the receipt of notice under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(c).

COUNT I

Violation of the Truth in Lending Act
15 USC § 1639b(c)

68-89. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege the foregoing allegations as though+-
fully set forth herein.

69:90. At all relevant times, loanDepot was a “person” as defined in 15 USC § 1602(e) of
TILA.

70:91. At all relevant times, loanDepot’s loan officers were “loan originators™ as defined

in 15 U.S.C. 1602(dd)(2) of TILA in that they are persons, who, for compensation or gain, or in
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expectation of compensation or gain, took residential mortgage loan applications, assisted
consumers in obtaining or applying to obtain residential mortgage loans, or offered or negotiated
terms of residential loans to borrowers, including Plaintiffs and the Class members.

7+92. The mortgage loans originated by loanDepot’s loan officers on behalf of Plaintiffs
and the Class members were “residential mortgage loans” as defined in 15 USC § 1602(dd)(5) of
TILA, in that they were consumer credit transactions secured by a mortgage, deed of trust, or other
equivalent consensual security interest on a dwelling or on residential real property.

72.93. loanDepot paid, and loanDepot loan officers received, commissions based on the

terms_(or a proxy for loan terms) of the Class members’ mortgage loans in violation of TILA, 15

USC § 1639b(c).
73:94. Asadirect result of this activity, loanDepot reaped millions of dollars of unlawfully
obtained revenues at the expense of Plaintiffs and the Class members.
74.95. As adirect result of this activity, Plaintiffs and the Class members were injured and
damaged by loanDepot’s unlawful steering scheme.
75.96. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a) of TILA, Plaintiffs and the Class members are
entitled to actual and statutory damages, including:
a. Actual damages sustained by the Class members pursuant to 15 U.S.C.+
§ 1640(a)(1);
b. A class award of damages in such amount as may be deemed by the Court pursuant
to 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(2); and
c. The sum of all finance charges and fees paid by the Class members pursuant to 15
U.S.C. § 1640(a)(4).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs Johnson, DeBaun, Moore, and Derrick;—and—Rabinewitz,
individually and on behalf of all Class members, request the following relief against Defendant
loanDepot:

1. An Order certifying the proposed Class under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure and appointing the Plaintiffs and their counsel to represent the Class;

2. Demand judgment for Plaintiffs and Class members against loanDepot and award
Plaintiffs and Class members an amount equal to:

a. Actual damages sustained by Plaintiffs and the Class members pursuant to 15
U.S.C. § 1640(a)(1);

b. A Class award as may be determined by the Court pursuant to 15 U.S.C.
§ 1640(a)(2);

c. The sum of all finance charges and fees paid by Plaintiffs and the Class
members pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(4);

d. Anaward of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of court pursuant to 15 U.S.C.
§ 1640(a)(3); and

3. Such equitable, injunctive, and other relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiffs respectfully request and demand a jury trial on all issues so triable.
Dated: July+50ctober 3, 2025
Respectfully submitted,
/s/ Ari Karen

Ari Karen, Esq. (Fed. Bar No. 13848)
Seth Waxman, Esq. (admitted Pro Hac Vice

SJorthconing)
Mitchell Sandler PLLC
2020 K Street, NW, Suite 760
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Washington, DC 20006
202.886.5267
akaren@mitchellsandler.com
swaxman(@mitchellsandler.com

/s/
Michael Paul Smith, Esq. #23685
Eric R. Harlan, Esq. #23492
Smith, Gildea & Schmidt, LLC
600 Washington Avenue, Suite 200
Towson, MD 21204
(410) 821-0070 / (410) 821-0071 (fax)
Email: mpsmith@sgs-law.com
Email: eharlan@sgs-law.com
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on October 3, 2025, the foregoing First Amended Class Action

Complaint and Jury Demand was filed with the Clerk of the Court for the United States District

Court for the District of Maryland using the CM/ECF system. Participants in the case who are

registered CM/ECF users will be served by the CM/ECF system.

/s/ Ari Karen
Ari Karen, Esq.
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loan >epot

ATTACHMENT A: Role Specific Incentive Terms
Troy Rogers

This Attachment A - Role Specific Incentive Terms (“RIT”) is incarporated by reference into and subject to the Retail
Master Incentive Plan (“MIP”). From and after the Effective Date, this RIT replaces all prior RITs and incentive plans.
Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the MIP.

Effective Date

This RIT is effective January 1, 2021 (“Effective Date”) and shall continue until changed, modified, amended or terminated,

at the sole discretion of the Company.

1. All Funded Loans locked through the proprietary product, pricing and eligibility engine (“PPE”) will be eligible for
Incentive Compensation pursuant to the RIT in effect as of the Lock Date.

2. All Funded Loans, not locked through PPE, will be eligible for Incentive Compensation pursuant to the RIT in effect
as of the Funding Date.

Compensation Components

Salary Compensation - the Retail Loan Consultant (“LC") is an incentive-only position and is exempt from overtime pay.
In this position, loanDepot requires that you maintain an active NMLS license?, regularly spend more than half (greater
than 50%) of your working time away from loanDepot’s place of business canducting sales calls to create, develop and
maintain referral relationships with real estate professionals, builders, and consumers. If at any time you feel that you
cannot perform these duties as expected, you must notify your Manager and Human Resources immediately.

Incentive Compensation - refer to terms of the incentive compensation section below. The incentive compensation below
defines the level of Basis Points (“BPS") that are utilized to calculate sales incentives on Funded Loan volume prior to any
adjustments elected by the Retail Loan Consultant in the Sales Election Calculator (“SEC”). The SEC allows the LC to
propose various elective selections for sales and marketing support that will result in an adjustment to the incentive
compensation.  Any elective selections and adjustments to incentive compensation proposed by the LC will be
documented on the SEC election forms. SEC adjustments are calculated based on the elections in place as of the Funding
Date (regardless of when the loan was locked and or priced). Incentive compensation is not earned until all adjustments
are calculated and made.

Incentive Compensatign

A. Qualified Loan Pool

An LC’s Qualified Loan Pool consists of all Self-Sourced Funded Loans originated by the LC funded during the Measurement
Period that are not part of the LC's Payment Schedule Loan Pool (set forth in Section B below). The Qualified Loan Pool
incentives are based on the base BPS Incentive Rate set forth below, subject to any adjustment made in the SEC. Subject
to adjustment or change pursuant to the other terms of this Plan, incentives ordinarily will be calculated by multiplying
the BPS Incentive Rate by the individual loan amounts of eligible Funded Loans during the Measurement Period, subject

L An active Temporary Authority status in NMLS for an initial period of 120 days from approval will be deemed equivalent to an
active NMLS license for purposes of this Plan.

1- Loan Consultant 1.1.21
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to the maximum incentive dollar cap for any individual Funded Loan.

1. Base BPS Incentive Rate for Qualified Loan Pool— 120 BPS

2. Maximum incentive that can be earned on any individual Funded Loan in the Qualified Loan Pool = $7'ooo

3. For calculation of incentive pay on simultaneous subordinate-lien mortgages, except for Silent Seconds/Bond
Second Loans, the loan amount of the subordinate-lien mortgage shall be added to the loan amount of the first-
llen mortgage, and the total incentive pay is subject to the maximum incentive cap. First-lien mortgages with
“piggyback” subordinate-lien loan products qualify as a single unit.

B. Payment Schedule Loan Pool

The Payment Schedule Loan Pool includes the following Funded Loan types, and the LC is eligible for incentives at the base
incentive compensation rates set forth below, subject to any proposed adjustments made in the SEC approved by the

Company. Subject to adjustment or change pursuant to the other terms of this Plan, incentives ordinarily will be calculated
by multiplying the BPS Incentive Rate by the individual loan amounts of eligible Funded Loans during the Measurement
Period, subject to the maximum incentive dollar cap for any individual Funded Loan.

e Brokered Loans (excluding Exempt Open-Ended Brokered Loans): 50 BPS,

e Corporate-Sourced Loans: Except as specified below under Optional Corporate-Sourced Types, Corporate-
Sourced Loans are eligible for an incentive of 50 BPS per loan.

a. Corporate-Sourced Election Types:
i. MSA 80 BPS

e Exempt Open-End Brokered Loans: Exempt Open-Ended HELOC Brokered Loans are eligible for an incentive of 50%
of Company’s broker compensation amount. No additional sales incentives/overrides will be payable on brokered
HELOC products (e.g. incentives to Sales Support staff and/or overrides to Sales Manager, Branch Manager,
Regional Manager, etc.).

e QOriginator Pending License Transfers: Referring LC transferring loans is not eligible for any sales incentive
compensation. LC who originates the loan is eligible for the standard Corporate-Sourced Loans of 50 BPS incentive
compensation for each Funded Loan.

e Permitted Loan Transfers: To the extent permitted under applicable law and subject to the definition of Permitted
Loan Transfers herein, a Direct or Retail Loan Originator (“LO") as defined herein, may transfer certain loans to
another LO. When permitted, the LO is eligible for a sales incentive rate of 30 BPS for any Permitted Loan Transfer
the LO refers that results in a Funded Loan. The LO is eligible for their Qualified Loan Pool Incentive Base BPS minus
30 BPS for each Funded Loan transferred to and origlnated by the LO. Calculation of Permitted Loan Transfers
incentive rate (Base BPS minus 30 bps) is based on the receiving LO maximum incentive dollar cap for any individual
Funded Loan,

e Silent Seconds/Bond Second Loans: Silent second-lien loans or other bond program subordinate-lien mortgages
for which Company does not receive compensation are not eligible for any sales incentives.

e Terminated LC Transfers: The originating LO or ILC who the loan is transferred to is eligible to receive 20 BPS for
each Funded Loan, not to exceed a maximum dollar cap of $500 per loan. Departing LC is eligible for full BPS
compensation, not to exceed the applicable maximum dollar cap, for any loan where the Funding Date is within
30 calendar days of the LC’s termination date,

2- Loan Consultant _ 1.1.21
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e Required Refinance: LC is not eligible to earn compensation for a refinance required by the Company because the
underlying Funded Loan is unsalable in the normal course,

e  Early Pay-Off (“EPO"”) Loans: EPO loans that are paid off within 120 days of the original Funding Date as a result of
the LC refinancing the prior loan will not be eligible for sales incentive pay. EPO loans pald off between 121 to
180 days of the original Funding Date as a result of the LC refinancing the prior loan will be eligible for a sales
incentive of 50 BPS.

e Emplovee Loans: Employee Loans are not eligible for sales incentives.

Unless otherwise provided above, the maximum incentive that can be earned on any individual Funded Loan in the
Payment Schedule Loan Pool will not exceed LC’s Qualified Loan Pool maximum dollar incentive cap, set forth in Section
A above.

C. Reassignment/Transfer/Promotion/Separation Impact on Eligibility to Earn Incentive Compensation:

If LC's employment with the Company terminates for any reason whatsoever, or he or she is reassigned, transferred, or
promoted to a position that is not eligible to participate in this Plan, and another employee of the Company will have to
perform significant work to ensure that any loans for which the application was taken by the LC are funded, that necessary
procedures are followed, and that other conditions regarding the loan are satisfied, the Company reserves the right to
modify, reduce, adjust, or eliminate the LC’s sales incentive pay; all such modifications, reductions, adjustments, or
eliminations shall be made at the sole discretion of the Company. However, ordinarily the Company will allow the LC to
be eligible to earn sales incentives for loans for which the LC provided services in accordance with the terms hereafter
stated for 30 days after the termination of the LC's employment or a reassignment, transfer or promotion within the
company provided that: (1) all of the conditions precedent under the terms of the Plan for earning the incentives are
satisfied during that 30-day period, including the condition that the loan funds within that 30-day period, (2) there are no
early payment defaults within 90 days of the Funding Date of any such loan; (3) all loans are sellable, insurable and do not
require extensive rework by the Company; (4) Final 1003s are signed by an employed, licensed Internal Loan Consultant
or Loan Consultant of the Company; and (5) all other terms and conditions of the Plan are satisfied.

D. Definitions
1. Basis Points (BPS): Each based point (1 bps) is 1/100t of 1% or 0.0001.

2. BPSIncentive Rate: The total of Base BPS Incentive Rate adjusted by total SEC election BPS.

3. Brokered Loans: A Funded Loan closed by a third-party lender, except for Exempt Open-End Brokered Loans. The
LC may only broker loans in situations in which the Company does not offer an identical or comparable product
to that offered by the third-party lender or the loan has been denied under the Company guidelines, and where
the third-party lender is a company-approved lender. Brokered loans that do not meet these standards will not
be eligible for any sales incentives.

4. Corporate-Sourced Loans: Loans from any source in which the Company has a relationship that has led to a Funded
Loan, except for loans that are Self-Sourced by the LC. Corporate-Sourced Loans include, but are not limited to,
loans sourced through Company marketing, affinity agreements, Builder Select Community loans, employer loans
from the Company or its affiliates, portfolio refinance programs, and DPLP.

5. DPLP: Means Digital Purchase Lead Program, a loanDepot strategic initiative that incorporates the Company’s
marketing spend and state of the art contact center to provide warm lead transfers to Retail LC’s.

3- Loan Consultant 1.1.21
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6, Early Pay-Off (“EPQ”) Loans: EPO Loans are-defined as loans previously originated by Compariy that are refinanced
within 180 days of the original Funding Date,

7, Employee Loans: Employee Loans are defined as loans made to any Compariy employee, All Employee loans are
originated In accordarice with the Company’s Employee Laan Palicy. Such loans must be transferred immediately
to a designated Direct LLO for origination and will be processed, underwritten, and funded by a designated team.

8. Exempt Oped-End Loan: A loan that meets the definition of open-end credit under 12 C.F.R, 1026.2(2), including
an open-gnd -home equity line of credit (*HELOC”) or open-end reverse mortgage, which is not subjact to the
Regulation Z Loan Originator Corpensation Rules under 12 C.F.R. 1026.36(d). This does not include cldsed-end
HELOCs ot reverse mortgages.

9. Funding Date: The date when the appropriate funds are drawn from the Company’s warehouse lines and

transmitted to the escrow agent to fund the loan.

10. Funded Loan: A funded resldential mortgage foan that is originated by LCin accordance with all applicable state
and federal law and regulations as well as the Company’s policies and procedures. A loan is deemed funded on
the Funding Date.

11. HELOC: A home equlty line of credit is a loan in which the [ender agrees to lend a maximum amount within an
agreed period (called a term), where the collateral is the barrower's equity in his/her house.

12, Loan Origjnator: A licensed Direct LLO; Retall Loan Consultant, Sales Manager, Producing Branch Manager or
Producing Area Manager

13, Lock Date: The date the loan rate and pricing are confirmed as locked by the Company lack desk.

14. Measuremerit Period: The applicable measurement period for incentive compensation shall be the periad of time
beginning on the first day of the caleridar month and ending on the last day of the talendar month. For purposes
of calculating incentive compensation, the eligible Funded Loan population will be determined as of 11:59:59pm
PST on the 2nd business day following the close of each Measureimerit Perlod,

15

Optional Corporate-Sourced Election Types: Corpprate-Sourced Loans from the following optional :Company
relationships: Marketing Services Agreements (“MSAs”), Partrier Space Agreements (“PSAs”), Builder Select
Community, and the Lender Express program.

16. Originator Pending License Transfers: If the LC is not licensed and approved to ariginate on behialf of the Company
or their NMLS Temporary Authority to originate has not been granted when Joan origiriator activities commence,
the L€ is required to transfer those loans to a licensed Internal Loan Consultant (“LE") or another licensed Retall
LC if an ILC Is not available.

17. Permitted Loan Transfers: To the extent permitted under applicable law and limited to thi reasons set forth below,
the LG may refer loans to be transferred to another L.C to originate. Any loan transfet outside those defined below
is hot permissible and not eligible for ariy sales incentive. “Parmitted Loan Transfers” shall include:

a. Llcensed State Transfer: L.C with an MLQO license, but not licensed In the state where the pioperty that is
the subject of the loan Is located may transfer the loan to anothar originator in the same branch or anather
branch within the Retail Channel that holds the appropriate state license. If there is not a licensed Retail
LC in the subject property state, the loan should be transferred to a licensed Direct LLO.

4- Loan Cansultant 1.1.21
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b. Extended Time Away from Office Transfer: If LC is out of the office for a permissible purpose for an
extended period of time and needs another originator to assist the customer during the extended

absence, the LC may transfer the loan to another originator.

c. Product Certification Transfer: If LC is not certified or qualified to originate the product that best meets
the customer’s needs, the LC must transfer the loan to a designated originator.

d. Customer Requested Transfer: The customer submits a written request to transfer their loan to another

ariginator at the Company.
e. Protected Builder Account: If LC receives a loan from a customer within a Protected Builder Account

territory, the LC must transfer the loan to the designated Builder Account LC.
f.  Direct LLO to Retail LC: Ta the extent that the Direct channel cannot originate a loan, they may transfer

the loan to a Retail LC.

19. Self-Sourced Loans: Self-sourced loans are loans that the LC obtains through his or her own relationships, business
sources, or marketing. Loans that are not Self-Sourced are not included in the Qualified Loan Pool.

RECEIPT B ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I have received, reviewed, and accept the terms of this RIT. | also understand and agree that the Company may
change, modify, amend or terminate this RIT at any time at its sole discretion. | understand that this RIT does nat
constitute a guarantee or contract of employment, and nothing in it should be construed to limit or change the at-
will employment relationship between the Company and myself which may be terminated at any time, with or
without cause or notice, by me or the Company.

RETAIL LOAN CONSULTANT ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE OR SHE HAS READ THIS RIT AND THE MIP IN THEIR ENTIRETY
AND UNDERSTANDS THEIR TERMS AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE OR SHE HAS HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TQ CONSULT
WITH LEGAL COUNSEL OF HIS OR HER CHOICE AND/OR OTHER PERSONS TO THE FULL EXTENT DESIRED BEFORE
SIGNING THISRIT. RETAIL LOAN CONSULTANT'S ACKNOWLEDGEMENT REPRESENTS THAT HE OR SHE HAS BEEN GIVEN
A REASONABLE TIME TO REVIEW AND CONSIDER THE RIT AND THE MIP,AND HAS AGREED TO EACH OF THEM OF HIS
OR HER OWN FREE CHOICE. IF RETAIL LOAN CONSULTANT HAS ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THESE TERMS, PLEASE
CONTACT RETAIL HRTEAM@LOANDEPQOT.COM

Tm, Koprs Dec 26, 2020 | 8:00 AM PST

Employee Signature Date

Troy Rogers

Print Name

1/1/2021

Company Representative — John Bianchi Date

5- Loan Consultant 1.1.21

LD-001457



Case 1:25-cv-02294-JRR  Document 29-3  Filed 10/03/25 Page 1 of 3

EXHIBIT B




Case 128 1%E M0 RIRE Dt 259 OG0/ 03788 T Bt oD # 5°8

EXHIBIT 11



Case 1:23-c

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

BRI 0 00 TR M B i85 ” Pied 10/0a7A9° Pae’ S0P #

Page 365

BY MR. KAREN:
0. But -- okay. Well, that's fine.
MR. KAREN: Let's go to Exhibit 57.
(Document marked Exhibit No. 57.)
BY MR. KAREN:
0. This is another loan between -- that
you're discussing. And you say to Mr. Johnson,

"Need to have an ILC name before I can verify and

send on. Thanks." Do you se that?
A. I do.
Q. And when you're saying "send on," you're

talking about sending on to Mr. Ramos and/or
Mr. Bianchi for approval, right?
A. Correct.
Q. Okay. So it's important for them to see
that it had been put in an ILC name before you
sent it on, right?
A. Correct.
Q. Because that would tell them that the
hundred basis points you otherwise were paying the
loan officer isn't in there anymore, right?
A. Correct.

MR. KAREN: Let's go to Exhibit 54.

(Document marked Exhibit No. 54.)

BY MR. KAREN:

Veritext Legal Solutions
215-241-1000 ~ 610-434-8588 ~ 302-571-0510 ~ 202-803-8830
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Message

From: John Bianchi [jbianchi@loandepot.com]

Sent: 11/12/2021 6:44:24 PM

To: John Bianchi [JBianchi@loandepot.com]

cC: Chris Holloway [CHolloway@Iloandepot.com]; Tom Fiddler [TFiddler@loandepot.com]
Subject: Authorized for Pricing Exception - # Il 269 - |

A Message from loanDepot A message from loanDepot

loanpOepot

Pricing Exception Authorized:

Loan Number: -4269

Loan Amount: $308,000.00
Interest Rate: 2.875

Decisioned By: John Bianchi
Exception Percent: -0.591

ilc ---- Loan is in the ILC, salvaging
Reason: it. Won't stick with us unless we
match broker at 2.875%

© Copyright 2021 - loanDepot, 26542 Towne Centre Drive, Foothill Ranch, 92610. All rights reserved. NMLS |.D. #174457

DL_EMT Agent 6048 PricingExceptionAuthcrized 0319
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Message

From: John Bianchi [jbianchi@loandepot.com]

Sent: 10/13/20219:36:32 PM

To: John Bianchi [JBianchi@loandepot.com]

cC: Chris Holloway [CHolloway@Iloandepot.com]; Tom Fiddler [TFiddler@loandepot.com]
Subject: Authorized for Pricing Exception - # k723 - I

A Message from loanDepot A message from loanDepot

loanpOepot

Pricing Exception Authorized:

Loan Number: [l 728
Borrower Name: ||| NG
Loan Amount: $750,000.00
Interest Rate: 2.750
Decisioned By: John Bianchi
Exception Percent: -1.008

ILC deal, competing against BOA

Reason:  rate. Multiple time past client

© Copyright 2021 - loanDepot, 26542 Towne Centre Drive, Foothill Ranch, 92610. All rights reserved. NMLS |.D. #174457

DL_EMT Agent 6048 PrcingEx
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Message

From: John Bianchi [jbianchi@loandepot.com]

Sent: 6/14/2021 9:24:30 PM

To: John Bianchi [JBianchi@loandepot.com]

cC: Chris Holloway [CHolloway@Iloandepot.com]; Tom Fiddler [TFiddler@loandepot.com]
Subject: Authorized for Pricing Exception - #|Jlli%44 -

A Message from loanDepot A message from loanDepot

loanpOepot

Pricing Exception Authorized:

Loan Number: [JJjil0944
Borrower Name: |GG
Loan Amount: $1,164,106.00
Interest Rate: 2.750
Decisioned By: John Bianchi
Exception Percent: -1.518

Large Financial Advisor, first deal
giving me and his own. Shopped

Reason: us with prior company, was able to
secure with this rate. Is an ILC
deal

© Copyright 2021 - loanDepot, 26542 Towne Centre Drive, Foothill Ranch, 92610. All rights reserved. NMLS |.D. #174457

DL_EMT Agent 6048_PricingExcep
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Message

From: Brian Covey [BCovey@loandepot.com]

Sent: 4/27/2021 8:19:50 AM

To: Sean Johnson [SeanJohnson@loandepot. cQm_]l__l___e__e__J_gg_n__ELerre [LleanPierre@loandepot.com]
Subject: Fwd: Rate expires today please extend lock Redacted '4093]

K - we tried but doesn’t qualify for referral

Let’s move to ILC - you can do w Julie and send back PE

Begin forwarded message:

From: Michelle Alexander <{__Redacted__i@loandepot.com>
Date: April 27, 2021 at 6:57:38 AM CDT
To: Brian Covey <BCovey®@loandepot.com>, Danielle Barker <danielle.barker@loandepot.com>

Subject: RE: Rate expires today please extend Iocldz Redacted :4093]

Hi Brian,

Based on the information you provided below | don’t believe that qualifies as a permitted transfer and the LC would not
be eligible for the 30 bps transfer fee.

Permitted Loan transfers shall include:

. Licensed State Transfer - LC with a MLO license, but not licensed in the state where the property that is the
subject of the loan is located. May transfer the loan to another originator in the same branch, another branch or
different channel that holds the appropriate state license.

. Extended Time Away from Office Transfer —If LC is out of the office for a permissible purpose for an extended
period of time and needs another originator to assist the customer during the extended absence, the LC may transfer

the loan to another originator.

o Product Certification Transfer —If LC is not certified or qualified to originate the product that best meets the
customer’s needs, the LC must transfer the loan to a designated originator.
. Customer Requested Transfer —If a LC transfers loan to another originator at the Company as a result of a

written request of a customer.
. Protected Builder Account —If a LC receives a loan from a customer within a Protected Builder Account territory,
the LC must transfer the loan to the designated Builder Account LC.

Michelle Alexander
Sr. Human Resources Manager

% | Redacted !

=i Redacted

Confidential LD_Johnson 0000097
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E1  https://www.loanDepot.com

Redacted :

faaﬂJEPOf | NMLS#174457

Customer service is our top priority: If you are not receiving exceptional customer service, or if you have any questions, please contact us at
www.|oandepot.com/about/contactus.

Confidentiality Note: This email and any attachment(s) are for the sole use of the intended recipient(s) and may be confidential and/or privileged. Any unauthorized use,
disclosure or copying is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful. If you have received this communication in error, please immediately notify the sender by return email, and
delete the message.

From: Brian Covey <BCovey®@loandepot.com>
Sent: Tuesday, April 27, 2021 7:44 AM

Subject Re: Rate expires today please extend Iock Redacted _____ !4093]
I'll have them move to R

Brian Covey
Vice President, Regional Production

@ (615) 627-4009 office
(901) 482-3806 cell
(855) 269-6085 fax

APPLY NOW BCovey@loandepot.com

www.loandepot.com/bcovey

10 Cadillac Dr., Suite 360
Brentwood, Tennessee 37027

BfYina

Check out my video

Certified Mortgage Advisor

Retail Lender : ™"

loanOepot inVolume cudo

Confidential LD_Johnson 0000098
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Page 1439
1 what ever the reasoning was that they had to nove a
2 | oan fromthe initial originating |oan officer,
3 they would -- they would then put it in her
4 pi peline or reassign it to her to basically Etch A
5 Sketch the | oan, start over, where they could
6 still nove the loan forward as it was and cl ose
7 it.
8 Q And how would you |earn that a | oan had
9 been transferred to Ms. Mtchel|l?
10 A The | oan would show up in nmy pipeline
11 under her as the loan officer.
12 Q Did this change inpact you at all?
13 A No. | mean, nothing changed on the
14 | oan. We still worked with the same | oan officer
15 and the same | oan officer assistants.
16 It was a name. | -- 1| really don't know
17 if it was a real person. | think it was -- |
18 think it was just -- or at the time we all joked
19 about the fact that it was an alias, you know,
20 | i ke calling somebody, you know, George WAashi ngton
21 or Bill Clinton in the system It was the same
22 thing. Juanita was just a name that the | oan went

Veritext Lega Solutions
215-241-1000 ~ 610-434-8588 ~ 302-571-0510 ~ 202-803-8830
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Page 1440

to. They could start the | oan over and get it
cl osed.

We didn't have any interaction with this
person and we didn't have any assistance fromthis
person. |If we had to change something in the
| oan, if the lock had to be updated, if somebody
had to go talk to the borrower, it was always the
original |loan officers.

Q So | take it you never nmet Ms. Mtchell?

A No. | never met anybody.

Q OCkay. So you nmentioned earlier that you
now wor k at Movenent.

When did you start working there?

A December 2021. Decenber 13th.

Q And what | ed you to | eave | oanDepot and
join Movement in Decenber of 20217

A | did not want to work there anynmore. |
had no reason to stay. For -- do you want ne to
expand on that because | had no reason to stay?

Q Sure.

A There were nultiple reasons | had no

reason to stay.

Veritext Lega Solutions
215-241-1000 ~ 610-434-8588 ~ 302-571-0510 ~ 202-803-8830
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1 A Pricing.
2 Q Okay. So what we're going to be talking
3 about now, just to nmake sure for everybody, we're
4 really just tal king about I1LC transfers for
5 pricing, right?
6 A Yes.
7 Q Okay. So when there was a transfer for
8 pricing to an ILC, how did that change what the
9 initial loan officer did on the file?
10 A It did not change.
11 Q How di d that change what the LO or
12 processor did on the file?
13 A It didn't change. It was the same --
14 sane duties as they would do on a | oan that was
15 still in the originator stage.
16 Q Well, then how could you really call it
17 a transfer?
18 A Because it reduced your conpensati on.
19 Q Yeah, but, | mean, a transfer suggests
20 there was a change of responsibility, right?
21 A It was three-card nonte. It was
22 literally just snoke in mrrors so that the

Veritext Lega Solutions
215-241-1000 ~ 610-434-8588 ~ 302-571-0510 ~ 202-803-8830
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Message

From: Kevin Luchko [/O=EXCHANGELABS/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP
(FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=9487354AF3EF4C4499BA36047548875E-KEVIN LUCHK]

Sent: 3/11/2020 5:15:35 PM

To: John Bianchi [/fo=Exchangelabs/ou=Exchange Administrative Group
(FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/cn=Recipients/cn=e92250be5bee437db66e4f050c06a594-John Bianch]; Chris Holloway
[/o=Exchangelabs/ou=Exchange Administrative Group
(FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/cn=Recipients/cn=a56c2c084476400c8932e690d8162fdd-Chris Hollo]; Tom Fiddler
[/o=Exchangelabs/ou=Exchange Administrative Group
(FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/cn=Recipients/cn=3bfc606fc1174b45be2d775e895adflc-Tom Fiddler]

CC: Marissa Moore [/o=Exchangelabs/ou=Exchange Administrative Group
(FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/cn=Recipients/cn=c25952773a914784b4a6a68d4e840d65-Marissa Moo)

Subject: RE: 3628

Its in the ILC was transferred last night.

From: John Bianchi <JBianchi@loandepot.com>

Sent: Wednesday, March 11, 2020 1:13 PM

To: Chris Holloway <CHolloway@loandepot.com>; Kevin Luchko <kluchko@Iloandepot.com>; Tom Fiddler
<TFiddler@loandepot.com>

Cc: Marissa Moore <MMoore@loandepot.com>

Subject: Re: [Jj36238

If these are in relation to an ILC
Can we please transfer the loans to the ILC prior to doing the PE request and locking the loans. It becomes problematic
for us to lock and transfer after the fact.

John Bianchi

EVP, National Production Manager Distributed Rela!

R (949

L

75-540!

\J‘s

Ll 9492380594

2, (888) 337-6888 ext. 8005

B JBanchi@@loandspotom

Ld hitps:fwew loanDepot com

o Do, Ste 1400, bvine, Califomia 82612

Hyou are nol receiving exceptinnal cusiomer service, o i you bave any guestions. teass conlastus al




